

UHSP Collections

Handbooks

Date Published: 12-2021

UHSP Faculty Handbook December 2021

Follow this and additional works at: https://collections.uhsp.edu/handbooks

Recommended Citation

"UHSP Faculty Handbook December 2021" (2021). *Handbooks*. 4. https://collections.uhsp.edu/handbooks/4

This Other is brought to you for free and open access by UHSP Collections. It has been accepted for inclusion in Handbooks by an authorized administrator of UHSP Collections. For more information, please contact jill.nissen@uhsp.edu.



in St. Louis

Faculty Handbook

December 2021

REGARDING THESE POLICIES, PROCEDURES AND BENEFITS

We consider the employees of University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis our most valuable resources. This handbook has been written to serve as the guide for the employer/employee relationship and does not constitute a contract of employment or a legal document.

This handbook contains only general information and guidelines. It is not intended to be comprehensive or address all the possible applications of, or exceptions to, the general policies and procedures described. Other policies may apply to faculty and staff and can be found in the University's library or other policy compilations (such as student code or academic catalog). Should the policies contained in this handbook conflict with other published versions of a policy, the most recent approved version will be the policy followed. Any questions regarding application of or exception to these guidelines should be directed to the Office of Human Resources.

The University reserves the right, through its Board of Trustees, its president and all authorized members of its management staff to carry out all customary functions of management, including the right to revise and discontinue policies, procedures and benefits at any time with or without notice to faculty and staff.

Following principles of shared governance changes in policies or new policies affecting faculty and staff will include an effort to inform and get feedback on policy prior to implementation. In some instances, such as legal compliance or change in regulation, the University may enact a policy without input if there is not sufficient time to do so. Changes in *Faculty Bylaws*, *Faculty* (policies on members, P&T, others traditionally titled "Faculty"), *Faculty Rights, Duties and Obligations*, will involve review by the appropriate faculty committee as stated in these documents.

Neither this handbook nor any other University document confers any contractual right, express or implied, to remain in the University's employ, and does not guarantee any fixed terms or conditions of your employment. Your employment is not for any specific time, unless specified otherwise in an appointment letter. For non-contracted employees the University may terminate employment at will, with or without cause and without prior notice, and you may resign at any time.

Table of Contents

1	ORG	SANIZATION AND ADMINISTRATION	6
	1.1	THE UNIVERSITY	
	1.2	VISION, MISSION, AND ASPIRATION	6
	1.2.1	Our Vision	6
	1.2.2	Our Mission	6
	1.2.3	Our Aspiration	
	1.3	BOARD OF TRUSTEES	
	1.4	President of University	
	1.5	President's Staff	
	1.6	SCHOOL OF PHARMACY	
	1.6.1	Department of Pharmacy Practice	
	1.6.2	Department of Pharmaceutical and Administrative Sciences	
	1.6.3		
	1.7	College of Global Population Health	
	1.8	COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES	
	1.8.1	Department of Basic Sciences.	
	1.8.2	Department of Liberal Arts	
	1.0.2	APPOINTMENT OF ACADEMIC ADMINISTRATORS	
	1.9.1	DEPARTMENT CHAIRS	
	1.9.2	Assistant/Associate Deans	
	1.7	ACADEMIC LEADERSHIP TEAM	
	1.8	GRADUATE FACULTY POLICY	
	1.8.1	Purpose	
	1.8.2	Responsibilities	
	1.8.3	Qualifications for Graduate Faculty Appointment	
	1.8.4	Procedure	
	1.8.5	Appendix	10
2	UNI	VERSITY POLICIES ON CONDUCT AND BEHAVIOR	10
	2.1	CODE OF ETHICAL CONDUCT	10
	2.2	POLICY AGAINST HARASSMENT, SEXUAL MISCONDUCT, RELATIONSHIP VIOLENCE AND STALKING	
	2.2.1	Policy Statement	
	2.3	ALCOHOL POLICIES	
	2.4	DRUG FREE WORKPLACE	
	2.4.1	Drug-Free Awareness Program	
	2.4.1	Notification to Human Resources	
	2.4.2	University Notification to Federal Agency	
	2.4.3	Further Action by University	
	2.4.5		
	2.5	WORKPLACE VIOLENCE	
	2.6	WHISTLEBLOWER POLICY	
	2.7	GENERAL CONDUCT EXPECTATIONS	
3	EMI	PLOYMENT POLICIES	16
	3.1	NON-DISCRIMINATION, EQUAL EMPLOYMENT OPPORTUNITY AND AFFIRMATIVE ACTION	16
	3.2	EMPLOYEE CLASSIFICATIONS	
	3.2.1	Faculty/Staff	
	3.2.2	Full-Time Status.	
	3.2.3	Part-Time Status	
	3.2.4	Temporary Status	
	3.2.5	Exempt/Non-Exempt	
	3.3	MINIMUM AND MAXIMUM AGE FOR EMPLOYMENT	
	3.4	VOLUNTEER POLICY	
	.5.4		

	3.5	STUDENT WORKERS	
	3.6	AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA) AND EMPLOYMENT	19
	3.7	DRUG AND ALCOHOL TESTING	19
	3.8	PRE-EMPLOYMENT PHYSICAL EXAMINATION	20
	3.9	BACKGROUND CHECKS	20
	3.10	EMPLOYMENT RECORDS	20
	3.11	EMPLOYMENT VERIFICATIONS/RELEASE OF EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION	21
	3.12	WORKPLACE LACTATION	21
	3.13	Dress Code	22
	3.14	TOBACCO AND SMOKE FREE CAMPUS	23
	3.15	ATTENDANCE STANDARDS	
	3.16	PERSONAL USE OF PHONE/PERSONAL PHONE CALLS	23
	3.17	EMPLOYMENT ELIGIBILITY AND SPONSORSHIP	24
	3.17.	1 Employment Eligibility	24
	3.17.	2 Sponsorship	24
	3.18	EMPLOYMENT OF RELATIVES	24
	3.19	WORK RELATED INJURY OR ILLNESS	25
	3.20	SOLICITATION AND DISTRIBUTION	
	3.21	RECOGNITION AWARDS	27
	3.22	COPYRIGHT POLICY	
	3.22.		
	3.23	PATENT POLICY	
	3.23.		
	3.24	NO WEAPONS ON CAMPUS	
	3.25	REASONABLE SEARCH	
	3.26	PHARMACY LICENSURE	
	3.27	CONSULTING OR OUTSIDE/ADDITIONAL EMPLOYMENT - FACULTY	
	3.28	FACULTY GRIEVANCE POLICY	
	3.28.		
	3.28.		
	3.28.	ÿ 1	
	3.28.	· ·	
	3.28.		
	3.28.		
	3.28.		
	3.28.	·	
	3.28.		
	3.28.	1 0	
	3.28.		
		·	
4	CON	MPENSATION POLICIES	36
	4.1	BUSINESS HOURS, WORK SCHEDULES, WORK WEEK	36
	4.2	MEAL PERIODS	
	4.2	PAYROLL PROCEDURES	
	4.3.1		
	4.3.1	Student Payroll	
	4.3.2	MERIT SALARY INCREASES	
	4.4.1		
	4.4.1	Merit Increase Eligibility	
	4.5.1	Supplemental pay - Faculty	
	4.6	SEPARATION OF EMPLOYMENT.	
	4.6.1		
	4.7	FLEXTIME	39
5	TIM	E OFF	39
	5 1	ADSENCE PEGLIESTS/PEDODT	30
	¬ 1	ARSENCE REGUESTS/REDOUT	20

	5.2	STATUS CHANGES AND CREDIT FOR WORK HISTORY FOR TIME OFF BENEFITS	
	5.3	FAMILY AND MEDICAL LEAVE ACT (FMLA)	40
	5.3.1	Basic FMLA Leave and Active Duty Leave	
	5.3.2	Military Caregiver Leave	40
	5.3.3	FMLA Definitions	
	5.3.4	Serious Health Condition	41
	5.3.5	Qualifying Exigency	41
	5.3.6	FMLA limits when spouses work together	42
	5.3.7	Notice of need for FMLA Leave	42
	5.3.8	Intermittent FMLA Leave	
	5.3.9	Documentation supporting FMLA leave	43
	5.3.10	v	
	5.3.1	l Substitution of paid leave	44
	5.3.12	\mathcal{J}	
	5.3.1.		
	5.4	HOLIDAYS	
	5.4.1		
	5.5	ABSENCES DUE TO ILLNESS AND FAMILY EMERGENCIES/SICK TIME	45
	5.5.1	7 0	
	5.5.2	Faculty	
	5.5.3	Accrual of Sick Leave	
	5.5.4	Appropriate uses of Sick Leave	46
	5.5.5	Tracking Sick Leave	
	5.5.6	Medical Certification	48
	5.5.7	Integration with Worker's Compensation	48
	5.6	OTHER LEAVE POLICIES	
	5.6.1	Bereavement and Funeral Leave	48
	5.6.2	Jury Duty	48
	5.6.3	Court Appearances	48
	5.6.4	Paid Caregiver/Parental Leave Policy	
	5.6.5	Military Leave	
	5.6.6	Leave without pay	
	5.6.7		
	5.6.8	Voting leave	
	5.7	VACATION	
	5.7.1	Vacation Accrual– Faculty	52
6	EMI	PLOYEE BENEFITS	53
	6.1	EMPLOYEE BENEFIT BOOKLETS	53
	6.2	GROUP HEALTH, DENTAL AND VISION INSURANCE PLANS	53 53
	6.3	ELIGIBILITY AND LATE ENROLLMENT	
	6.4	COBRA CONTINUATION COVERAGE	
	6.5	GROUP LIFE INSURANCE PLAN, ACCIDENTAL DEATH AND DISMEMBERMENT AND SUPPLE	
	6.6	FLEXIBLE BENEFITS PLAN.	
	6.7	LONG TERM DISABILITY BENEFITS INSURANCE PLAN	
	6.8	TRAVEL ACCIDENT AND MEDICAL INSURANCE	
	6.9	WORKER'S COMPENSATION	
	6.10	RETIREMENT PLAN	
	6.11	UNIVERSITY TUITION REIMBURSEMENT.	
	6.12	TUITION FOR DEPENDENTS AT UHSP	
	6.13	TUITION FOR DEPENDENTS AT URSF	
	0.13	TOTTON EACHANGE I ROURAIND (CIC-TEI J	

1 Organization and Administration

1.1 The University

Founded in 1864, University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis is the third oldest and among the largest colleges of pharmacy in America. The University primarily admits students directly from high school, and the curriculum integrates the liberal arts and sciences with a professional program leading to a Doctor of Pharmacy (Pharm.D.) with an integrated Bachelor of Science (B.S.). The University offers a full student life experience, including more than 60 student organizations and intercollegiate athletics.

The University is chartered as a nonprofit corporation and operates under the regulations of the Missouri "Not for Profit Corporation Law." The University has been at its present location since 1927.

Since 1927, the University has been located on nine acres in the heart of one of the world's finest biomedical and patient-care centers – the Washington University Medical Campus. The University is actively forging partnerships with nearby institutions such as Washington University in St. Louis, Barnes-Jewish Hospital and Goldfarb School of Nursing.

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis's Doctor of Pharmacy (Pharm.D.) and integrated Bachelor of Science (B.S.) programs are accredited by the Higher Learning Commission of the North Central Association of Colleges and Schools. The Pharm.D. is also accredited by the Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education.

1.2 Vision, Mission, and Aspiration

1.2.1 Our Vision

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis will be a transformational leader in health education and research

1.2.2 Our Mission

To educate and advance communities of discovery to foster a healthier society.

1.2.3 Our Aspiration

To create an environment where UHSP becomes the institution of choice for students, faculty, and staff across a range of health care practices and fields. An improved culture will help the institution to drive the success and retention of all stakeholders

1.3 Board of Trustees

The University is governed by a Board of Trustees consisting of not more than twenty-four members, none of whom are members of the faculty or employed by the University.

Not more than four members may be elected from nominees submitted by the Alumni Association. Trustees serve for terms of three years and are limited to no more than three consecutive terms.

1.4 President of University

The President serves as chief executive and administrative officer for the academic and non-academic components of the University. The President is responsible to the Board of Trustees for all academic departments and administrative areas of the University and for administration of policies and procedures as determined by the Board.

1.5 President's Staff

The President's Staff is a cabinet comprised of members of administration who report directly to the President or manage a significant function at the University. The following positions serve on President's Staff:

- Dean of Pharmacy
- Dean of Arts and Sciences
- Dean of Global Population Health
- Special Assistant(s) to the President
- Assistant Vice President, Advancement
- Vice President, Campus Life and Chief Diversity Officer
- Vice President, Marketing and Enrollment Services
- Vice President, Finance/CFO
- Vice President, Operations
- Vice President for Program Development and Strategic Initiatives
- Assistant Vice President, Human Resources
- General Counsel

1.6 School of Pharmacy

The dean of pharmacy provides leadership in pharmacy professional education and practice, including research, scholarly activities, and service. The dean is responsible for ensuring that all professional pharmacy program accreditation requirements are met. The dean oversees the following academic departments:

1.6.1 Department of Pharmacy Practice

This department consists faculty and support staff in with pharmacy practice specialties in acute care, ambulatory care, or specialty care organized into one department. Vice Chair position(s) may be used to help support administration.

1.6.2 Department of Pharmaceutical and Administrative Sciences

This department consists of faculty and support staff in the areas of pharmaceutical science (medicinal chemistry, pharmacology/toxicology, and pharmaceutics) and

pharmacy administration. Vice Chair position(s) may be used to help support administration.

1.6.3 Office of Experiential Education

This unit consists of faculty and staff appointed to manage introductory and advanced pharmacy practice experiences for students in the Pharm.D. program.

1.7 College of Global Population Health

The dean of global population health provides leadership in graduate education at the University. The dean is responsible for ensuring that all program accreditation requirements are met.

1.8 College of Arts and Sciences

The dean of arts and sciences provides leadership in undergraduate education at the University. The dean is responsible for ensuring that all pre-pharmacy and undergraduate program accreditation requirements are met. The dean the following academic departments:

1.8.1 Department of Basic Sciences

This department consists of faculty in disciplines such as mathematics/statistics, chemistry (general, bio- and organic chemistry), anatomy, physiology, physics, microbiology, and related staff.

1.8.2 Department of Liberal Arts

This department consists of liberal arts faculty in disciplines such as communications, history, English and literature, political science, psychology, sociology, art and music, as well as related staff.

1.9 Appointment of Academic Administrators

1.9.1 Department Chairs

The chair of the department reports to the dean of the college and has broad responsibilities for the overall operations of the academic programs within the department. The chair is appointed for three to five years, and the duties and performance of the chair are reviewed on an annual basis.

The chair will serve as a mentor, facilitator and administrator for faculty and staff within the academic department as they carry out their responsibilities and goals. The chair will act as the representative of the department to the Unversity's administration and outside constituencies and act as an advocate for the mission of the department to those groups.

1.9.2 Assistant/Associate Deans

As needed, the dean may appoint a faculty member to serve in assistant or associate dean roles to assist in administration of the respective College. The assistant or associate dean is appointed on a one to three year basis, and the performance and duties of the assistant or associate dean are reviewed by the dean on an annual basis.

1.7 Academic Leadership Team

The Academic Leadership will provide overall guidance for academic matters at the University. The committee includes each dean, assistant and associate deans, department chairs and directors of student services for each College.

1.8 Graduate Faculty Policy

1.8.1 Purpose

This policy defines the process for appointing UHSP Graduate Faculty.

1.8.2 Responsibilities

Graduate Faculty can be expected to:

- vote on graduate policies and courses
- direct graduate level courses
- serve as supervisory faculty on graduate examination and research committees
- accept (as needed) an elected position within the Graduate Council (See Appendix).

1.8.3 Qualifications for Graduate Faculty Appointment

- terminal degree that is at least equivalent to the degree desired by the student. Qualified faculty are appointed based primarily on credentials, but other factors, including but not limited to equivalent experience, may be considered in determining whether a faculty member is qualified.
- evidence of continuous and cumulative scholarly productivity, creative work, and/or discovery of knowledge relevant to a graduate program offered at UHSP

1.8.4 Procedure

- Faculty seeking UHSP Graduate Faculty appointment must forward to the Office of Graduate Studies (See Appendix) a written request that identifies their proposed contribution to graduate education and an updated CV.
- The Graduate Council will review qualifications of the applicant and will forward a recommendation to the appropriate UHSP Dean and Department Chair for final decision.
- All Graduate Faculty must have a UHSP Faculty appointment.
- For those receiving a new UHSP appointment, the appropriate Dean and Department Chair will determine:
 - the initial status (Full Faculty or Adjunct) and title (i.e., Instructor, Assistant Professor, Associate Professor, or Professor) using criteria in the current UHSP Faculty By-Laws.
 - o the most appropriate UHSP departmental appointment.
- All Graduate Faculty will have the rights and responsibilities of Faculty as outlined in the current UHSP Faculty By-Laws.
- Graduate Faculty appointment is time-limited to five (5) years and renewable.

1.8.5 Appendix

Graduate Council (proposed, subject to change)

<u>Purpose:</u> The Graduate Council is the body chiefly responsible for maintenance of program standards and assuring compliance with UHSP graduate education policies.

Membership:

Voting: UHSP graduate education lead (appointed), all graduate program directors, elected graduate faculty representatives (representation is apportioned to the number of full-time Graduate Faculty members in each Program. Each Program would have at least one representative).

Non-Voting: Elected graduate student representative, registrar, etc.

Responsibilities

- provide quality control for all aspects of graduate education, incl. graduate student admission and progression
- serves as the primary advocate for the needs of graduate students
- reviews application for Graduate Faculty status and recommends approval to Graduate Faculty
- prepares the agenda for the Graduate Faculty

Office of Graduate Studies (proposed, subject to change)

Purpose: Executes administrative tasks in support of graduate education

Membership:

UHSP graduate education lead (appointed) and assigned administrative support staff member (partial FTE)

Responsibilities:

- implements UHSP graduate education policies
- facilitate student admission and services in collaboration with existing UHSP administrative offices (e.g., registrar, financial, & international)
- provide support services and information for graduate faculty

Approved by the Faculty April 3, 2020 Approved by the President April 8, 2020

2 University Policies on Conduct and Behavior

2.1 Code of Ethical Conduct

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis is committed to maintaining a campus environment that offers a wide range of professional, social and cultural opportunities and where the well-being of students is the primary focus of all decision-making and actions. A Code of Ethical Conduct (the "code") is in place to avoid conflicts of interest, legal and/or ethics violations and ensure mechanisms are in place to allow for protected reporting of violations.

The policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.2 <u>Policy Against Harassment, Sexual Misconduct, Relationship Violence and Stalking</u>

2.2.1 Policy Statement

This policy establishes guidelines and procedures for handling specific incidents involving sexual harassment as defined under Title IX of the Higher Education Act of 1972, as amended, and implementing regulations.

This policy applies to all faculty, staff, students, and others (guests, contractors, volunteers, and visitors) who are actively participating in, or attempting to participate in, a College program or activity at the time of filing a formal complaint under this policy (herein collectively referred to as "Covered Persons")

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.3 Alcohol Policies

- 1. Employees are prohibited from consuming or being under the influence of alcohol on campus, unless at an event sanctioned by the president or their designee.
- 2. When alcoholic beverages are officially sanctioned for University events, employees are expected to comply with all federal, state laws or local ordinances related to alcohol and act responsibly. It is a violation to be intoxicated while working or attending University events. Some specific positions performing some types of work (for example, technicians working with potentially dangerous equipment) are prohibited from alcohol consumption while working.
- 3. All employees attending University-sponsored student events shall abide by the University's student policies on use of alcoholic beverages, on and off campus.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.4 Drug Free Workplace

The University certifies that a drug-free workplace will be provided in which personnel may perform their responsibilities. The unlawful manufacture, distribution, dispensing, possession or use of a controlled substance is prohibited on any University property or while conducting University business. Personnel in violation of this prohibition may be required, at the discretion of the University, to participate in a drug abuse counseling or

rehabilitation program at the employee's expense, or may be subject to suspension or termination of employment without notice.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.4.1 Drug-Free Awareness Program

A Drug-Free Awareness Program has been established by the University for the benefit of employees. This program will be maintained and communicated to employees at least annually. Information on the dangers of drug abuse in the workplace, drug counseling and rehabilitation programs, and penalties for drug abuse violations in the workplace are shown below:

- a. Chemical or alcohol abuse resulting in individual impairment provokes significant negative impact within the workplace. This negative impact is manifest through degeneration of work habits including decreased ability to communicate, failure to fulfill responsibility, lack of dependability and the potential for serious injury to self and others.
- b. The University can make available a clinical psychologist for initial assessment and referral counseling. Should it be found necessary, the employee will be referred to a treatment-diagnostic facility for total diagnosis. Diagnostic findings determine the need, the mode and the intensity of rehabilitation to be employed. The employee will be liable for all costs, except to the extent they are covered by health insurance.
- c. Measures and/or penalties assessed for drug violations in the workplace are dependent on the nature of the violation, and shall be within the sole discretion of the University.
- d. An assessment committee chaired by the assistant vice president, human resources, including the employee's division director or department chair and a resource person knowledgeable in the field of chemical impairment will recommend actions to be taken. Findings of this committee are advisory to the assistant vice president, human resources and/or the dean. The president of the University will make the final determination. Actions may vary from suggested counseling and possible rehabilitative efforts to suspension from or termination of employment.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.4.2 Notification to Human Resources

As a condition of employment with the University, each employee agrees to:

- Abide by the terms of this statement.
- Notify the human resources of any criminal drug statute conviction for a violation occurring in the workplace no later than five days after such conviction.

2.4.3 <u>University Notification to Federal Agency</u>

The University is required and agrees to notify appropriate federal agencies (U.S. Department of Education) within ten days after receiving notice of an employee's conviction for a drug abuse violation.

2.4.4 Further Action by University

In addition, the University, within 30 days of receiving notice of an employee conviction for a drug abuse violation occurring in the workplace will take one of the following personnel actions against such an employee, up to and including:

- Requiring such employee to participate satisfactorily in a drug abuse assistance or rehabilitation program approved for such purposes by a federal, state or local health, law enforcement or other appropriate agency
- Termination

2.4.5 Good Faith Effort

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis will make a good faith effort to continue to maintain a drug-free workplace through implementation of the procedures outlined in this statement.

2.5 Workplace Violence

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis believes that all faculty, staff and students are entitled to a safe, non-threatening workplace environment. Any form of violence, whether actual or perceived, physical or verbal, may be in violation of this policy. This includes, but is not limited to:

- Disruptive, intimidating, threatening or hostile behavior, including loud, abusive language
- Threats via email or voicemail
- Possession of a weapon
- Violation of restraining orders
- Fighting
- Verbal abuse
- Stalking
- Sabotage or misuse of equipment or University property
- Any behavior that is perceived as threatening

It is the responsibility of all employees to show that the University is serious about prohibiting and preventing violence in the University. If an employee becomes aware of any action, behavior, or perceived threat that may violate this policy, they are

responsible for immediately contacting the Office of Public Safety, the appropriate dean or, the Office of Human Resources.

An employee or student who believes that he or she has been subjected to or has been the witness of threatening or intimidating behavior by a fellow employee (faculty or staff), a student, a family member, or someone else, should report such conduct according to the procedure outlined below. Any employee or student who violates this policy may be subject to disciplinary action, up to and including discharge from the University.

Violence, or the threats of violence, whether committed by faculty, staff or students, is against University policy and may be considered unlawful as well. All employees are responsible for taking action against threats or acts of violence by employees, students or others, including family members.

This policy prohibits retaliation against anyone who brings a complaint of violent, threatening or intimidating behavior. The person making a complaint will not be adversely affected in terms and condition of employment, student status or discriminated against because of the complaint.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.6 Whistleblower Policy

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis is committed to maintaining a campus environment where the well-being of students and the University is the primary focus of all decision making and actions. Employees reporting potential problems or ethical violations should follow the established reporting guidelines and are afforded certain protections.

An employee who reports an activity that he/she considers to be illegal, dishonest or a violation of the University's Code of Ethical Conduct will be considered a whistleblower as defined by this policy. The whistleblower is not responsible for investigating the activity or for determining fault or corrective measures. Appropriate management officials are charged with these responsibilities.

If an employee has knowledge of or a concern of illegal or dishonest and/or fraudulent activity, the employee is to promptly contact the director of human resources who is responsible for investigating and coordinating corrective action. Alternately the employee may contact the general counsel or president of the University. The employee must exercise sound judgment to avoid baseless allegations. An employee who intentionally files a false report of wrongdoing may be subject to discipline.

Whistleblower protections are provided in two important areas -- confidentiality and against retaliation. Insofar as possible, the confidentiality of the whistleblower will be maintained. However, identity may have to be disclosed to conduct a thorough investigation, to comply with the law and to provide accused individuals their legal rights of defense. The University will not retaliate against a whistleblower. This includes, but is

not limited to, protection from retaliation in the form of an adverse employment action such as termination, compensation decreases, or poor work assignments and threats of physical harm. Any whistleblower who believes he/she is being retaliated against must contact the director of human resources immediately. The right of a whistleblower for protection against retaliation does not include immunity for any personal wrongdoing that is alleged and investigated.

Employees with any questions regarding this policy should contact the assistant vice president, human resources.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

2.7 **General Conduct Expectations**

All employees of the University are expected to conduct themselves in a collegial, professional manner. Numerous descriptions are included in University policies and procedures outlining expected behavior. While these do not create an exhaustive list of additional expectations, it is expected our employees will:

- Follow reasonable direction and work requests from supervisors provided that work does not violate another University policy or procedure or violate the Code of Conduct.
- Perform all work with care and dedication to ensure a high quality.
- Be respectful of University property and resources, taking care to ensure use is appropriate and responsible.
- Take great care with sensitive or confidential information including social security numbers, student and employee records, budget information and health information.
- Familiarize and follow proper safety policies and procedures. Specific policies for hazard communications, teaching labs, research areas, personal protective equipment, blood borne pathogens and other safety matters can be found in respective safety policies.
- Represent the University in a respectful, professional manner to students, parents, alumni and the community.

3 Employment Policies

3.1 Non-Discrimination, Equal Employment Opportunity and Affirmative Action

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, national or ethnic origin, disability, age, gender, gender expression/identity, sexual orientation, veteran status or other protected class in admission, financial aid, athletics, or any of its educational policies and programs.

In addition, the University provides and promotes equal employment and equal employment opportunities without regard to race, color, religion, national or ethnic origin, disability, age, gender, gender expression/identity, sexual orientation, veteran status or other protected class.

This employment policy shall be supported through a continuing affirmative action commitment, that embodies the standards of equal employment opportunities for all persons in regard to human resources polices including but not limited to, employment, promotion, demotion or transfer, recruitment or advertisement, layoff or termination, rates of pay or other forms of compensation, and selection for training.

As a federal contractor covered under Executive Order 11246, the University is required to be an Affirmative Action employer. Affirmative Action is the implementation of special recruitment and development efforts to overcome the under-representation of targeted groups to achieve a balanced workforce. Targeted groups include persons of color, women, persons with disabilities, disabled veterans, and Vietnam era veterans. All persons are afforded equal opportunity. It is our policy to recruit, hire, train, promote and in all ways provide fair treatment on the basis of merit. The Affirmative Action Plan is available for viewing upon request in the Office of Human Resources.

In order to help ensure the effective implementation of this policy, the assistant vice president, human resources has been designated as the Equal Employment Opportunity Coordinator. The coordinator shall make regular reviews of the University's human resources policies, including employment practices to ensure consistency with the principles stated in this policy.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

3.2 **Employee Classifications**

3.2.1 Faculty/Staff

Employees are either designated as faculty, staff or student. Staff are typically employed at-will and do not have a primary responsibility teaching. See the handbook section on Student Workers for more information on student employment.

3.2.2 Full-Time Status

A full time equivalent employee is regularly scheduled 37.5 hours per week. An employee regularly scheduled at least 30 hours or more (80% full time equivalent) is also considered full time. The full-time designation includes faculty or staff with academic year (9- or 10-month appointments) or fiscal year or annual appointments (12 months) who meet the previously described full-time designation during their appointment terms.

3.2.3 Part-Time Status

Part-time employees are those who are regularly scheduled and work less than 30 hours per week. Part-time employees are typically not eligible for paid time off or insurance benefits.

3.2.4 Temporary Status

Temporary employees are employed for specific assignments, projects or as short term/interim help. Temporary employees are not eligible for any benefits offered by the University. In addition, the University is under no obligation to offer continued or future employment to any temporary employee.

3.2.5 Exempt/Non-Exempt

Employees will be designated as exempt or non-exempt from overtime according to the Fair Labor Standards Act (FLSA) designation. Human Resources will determine status by reviewing each position and its duties, responsibilities and qualifications and requirements.

3.3 Minimum and Maximum Age for Employment

Persons sixteen (16) years of age are eligible for employment in positions where all requirements of State and Federal laws regulating the employment of minors can be met.

There is no maximum age for employment eligibility.

3.4 **Volunteer Policy**

The normal and customary work of University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis is accomplished by its employees. The University has established this policy pertaining to volunteers because we frequently have persons interested in providing their services to the University as a nonprofit charitable organization on a volunteer basis,

without expectation of any compensation, benefits or other consideration for their donated time and work.

In order for the University to work with volunteers and accept their services, the following guidelines should be followed.

Volunteers are not:

- To serve as a primary replacement to perform any type of service that the University normally employs a faculty or staff member to perform. Volunteers may supplement functions for which faculty or staff are employed.
- Employees of the University, and they receive neither compensation of any type, nor do they receive any benefits.
- To perform services involving personal or sensitive information such as protected health information (PHI), student records, employment records, or social security numbers.
- Covered by the University's worker's compensation insurance.

Volunteers are:

- Expected to conform to the University policies and procedures, particularly those related to security, safety, and ethical conduct if they wish to continue to volunteer.
- Covered by the University's conduct policies (such as code of ethics, and discrimination/harassment, sexual misconduct, relationship violence and stalking) and should report to the appropriate administrator any behavior that they feel is contrary to a stated policy.
- Required to sign an agreement with Human Resources clearly explaining their volunteer status and expectations

3.5 **Student Workers**

Student employment is available through Work-Study or University payroll.

- 1. Federal Work Study: The Office of Financial Aid must approve the employment of all students to verify their eligibility of Federal Work-Study awards and/or determine whether their employment will endanger other financial aid they have been awarded. Each office or department has a student salary budget which must be respected. Employees are encouraged to employ students who are eligible for Federal Work-Study. Care must be taken to see that they do not work more hours than allowed on the Work Authorization.
- 2. Students on the University payroll, and Work-Study, are paid at rates set by Human Resources. Hours worked are tracked by payroll and must be approved by the student's supervisor. The pay period runs from the 16th thru the 15th and is paid on the 28th, or last working day before the 28th, of each month. Checks are distributed through the Business Office.

3. To apply for student worker positions, students should complete the 'Student Worker Form' that can be found on Campus Web, under the Student Forms section.

3.6 Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) and Employment

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis is committed to providing reasonable accommodations for eligible individuals with documented disabilities as defined by federal and state law in the most timely and effective manner possible under applicable laws and regulations. The University's intent is to ensure every employee (faculty, staff and student employees) who makes a request for an accommodation under the Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) is properly advised of the accommodation process.

Qualified people with disabilities will be treated without discrimination in all employment practices including but not limited to employment, promotion, demotion or transfer, recruitment, or termination.

Individuals with disabilities may request a reasonable accommodation to complete an application or perform the essential functions of a position.

It is the individual's responsibility to notify Human Resources that an accommodation is needed. When accommodation is requested, the University will begin a dialog with the individual in order to make a reasonable attempt to meet the request for accommodation or provide a reasonable alternative the requested accommodation presents undue hardship on the organization or present a direct threat to the individual or others.

Human Resources may request documentation demonstrating a disability that is not obvious. Medical information obtained in this process is to be kept separate from personnel records. Supervisors may be involved in this dialog regarding restrictions on work or duties and regarding necessary accommodations. The individual with the disability will be notified of the University's response to the requested accommodation.

3.7 <u>Drug and Alcohol Testing</u>

At this time the University does not require new hire drug tests for most positions. Some positions, such as pharmacy practice positions with patient care responsibility, may require a pre-employment drug test as a condition of employment.

The University reserves the right to require an employee to undergo alcohol and/or drug testing when there is a reasonable suspicion that the employee might be under the influence of alcohol or drugs. If an employee is found in violation of University policy, federal or state laws, or local ordinances, the circumstances accompanying each individual case will be considered when determining the consequences. Violations of this policy will result in disciplinary action, up to and including termination, and may have legal consequences. Refusal to undergo alcohol or drug testing will be treated as a positive test.

3.8 Pre-Employment Physical Examination

Some University positions require that an applicant satisfactorily complete a preemployment physical examination to determine whether the employee is capable of performing the essential functions of the position as a condition of the employment offer. Physical examinations are given by the University's designated provider at no cost to the applicant. However, if the provider finds it necessary to perform procedures other than those required by a routine exam or to refer the applicant to an outside specialist, those additional expenses will be the responsibility of the applicant.

3.9 Background Checks

To determine suitability for employment or continued employment, the University has the right to check the education, criminal conviction, credit and/or driving records of any employee.

Human Resources will conduct a thorough background check of all employees after an offer of employment is made. Background checks may also be made during employment. The University will comply with Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) guidelines where applicable.

A record with a negative outcome (criminal, credit and/or driving) will be examined on a case-by-case basis by the Office of Human Resources with notification of the appropriate dean or President's Staff person responsible for the position. Consideration will be given to the relationship between the conviction and the responsibilities of the position that is or will be held. A relevant, job-related conviction is grounds for termination of employment. Conviction is defined as including all felonies and misdemeanors except minor traffic violations in relation to any position which does not require driving. Items found on a driving record (such as suspension or revocation of license, driving while intoxicated, leaving the scene of an accident, excessive speed over 19 MPH over the limit) may limit use of University vehicles and in instances where driving is a requirement for a position, result in termination.

Falsification of application materials, including failure to disclose criminal convictions is grounds for termination of employment.

Records are retained by Human Resources safely and securely separate from the personnel file.

3.10 Employment Records

Maintaining necessary employment records in an appropriate format is vital to the operation of the University's payroll, benefits, employee management systems, and compliant with legal recordkeeping requirements. Information below provides a summary of the policy. For additional questions contact Human Resources.

The policy of the Office of Human Resources pertaining to access to records maintained in Human Resources safeguards against improper disclosure and protects employees' rights to privacy. Records about the employment of student are considered employment records under the Family Educational and Right to Privacy Act.

Individually identifiable personnel records, performance ratings or records pertaining to employees or applicants for employment, and records of hiring, firing, disciplining or promoting an employee of the University are and shall be considered sensitive.

The institution generally supports employees accessing Personnel Files. Access to records may be granted to individuals under the following circumstances:

- The employee who is the subject of the file requests to view their personnel file.
 Employees who want to review a file with a representative such as an attorney or financial planner should schedule an appointment with Human Resources.
- Supervisory employees who are considering the employee for promotion, transfer, reassignment, demotion, dismissal or other personnel actions.
- A University attorney or other appropriate officer when needed in connection with any action brought by the employee against the University
- Other persons acting in compliance with federal, state or local laws such as auditors, equal employment opportunity investigators, etc., or in response to a lawfully issued subpoena or court order.
- University supervisory or administrative personnel who can reasonably establish a need to know in order to perform the duties of their position.
- Security and emergency response personnel will be given access in connection with emergency or safety and security matters.

The file shall be reviewed in the Office of Human Resources in the presence of a member of the Office of Human Resources staff. Employees may take notes or request copies. Employees have the right to insert concise information in their files in response to material they deem unfair or incorrect.

It is the policy of the University that former employees are not entitled to access their closed personnel records (absent subpoena or other legal process), nor may they access the personnel records of any other employee whether former or currently employed.

3.11 Employment Verifications/Release of Employment Information

The University will release name, title and hire date to third parties requesting an employment verification and keep a record of whom that information was released to. In addition, if a request is in writing, an employee's written consent will be required to provide additional information. Human Resources manages these verifications and releases.

3.12 Workplace Lactation

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis provides a supportive environment to enable breastfeeding employees to express their milk during business hours.

Nursing Mother Room

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis has designated a private and sanitary location on campus so that faculty, staff, and students may express their milk during business hours. The designated lactation rooms are ARB 460, RAS 445, and

Jones 1246 and may be booked online. Please use appropriate signage to denote when these rooms are in use for this purpose.

The room provides an electrical outlet, comfortable chair and nearby access to hot running water and soap. Breastfeeding employees are responsible for keeping the general lactation room clean for the next user. If employees prefer, they may also express their milk in their own private offices, or in other comfortable locations agreed upon in consultation with the employee's supervisor.

Reasonable Break Times

Employees shall be granted flexible and reasonable breaks, using their normal break periods and meal times, to accommodate milk expression. For time that may be needed beyond the usual break periods, employees may make up the time as negotiated with their supervisors provided they meet overtime and scheduling policies.

Employees who wish to express milk during the work period should keep supervisors informed of their needs so that appropriate accommodations can be made to satisfy the needs of both the employee and the department. Nursing mothers who feel they have been denied appropriate accommodations are encouraged to contact Human Resources.

3.13 Dress Code

The University has a business casual dress code on a year round basis. Appropriate business casual attire includes slacks, skirt or dress, blouses, shirts with collars, and appropriate shoes. Jeans, shorts, t-shirts, hoodies, tank tops, gym clothes and flip flops are not appropriate attire. Some positions require a uniform and may have additional guidelines regarding clothing and footwear. For some positions appropriate footwear may be required as personal protective equipment (maintenance boots, closed-toe shoes in labs, etc.)

It is important to remember that you are representing the University to the community that includes current and prospective students, their families, alumni and prospective donors. It is important that you be neatly dressed, properly groomed and that you present yourself in a dignified manner. Employees should dress according to accepted standards of modesty, dignity and good taste. Clothes must be clean, fit properly and not extreme in design or fashion.

Employees should dress appropriate to the type of work being performed and appropriate to the level of responsibility and position. Periodically, when necessary for particular situations such as business meetings or presentations, employees should dress in professional business attire. In addition, department heads may, at their discretion and at any time, request that an entire department dress in professional business attire for an event or meeting.

Friday is designated as "Spirit Friday". Jeans may be worn if they are worn with a UHSP/STLCOP shirt to show school spirit. Jeans should be in good repair, no rips or tears.

It will, be the responsibility of supervisors and department heads to enforce the dress code policy. If there are any questions regarding appropriateness of dress, it should be directed to a supervisor, department head or Human Resources.

3.14 Tobacco and Smoke Free Campus

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis seeks to provide a healthy, comfortable and productive work and educational environment for its employees, students, patients and visitors. To further this objective, tobacco use and smoking (including use of cigarettes, cigars, pipes, hookahs, e-cigarettes, other devices and smokeless/chewing tobacco) is strictly prohibited on campus and within all parking lots, vehicles and University owned/leased buildings. In addition, smoking within twenty feet of University buildings entrances is prohibited.

3.15 Attendance Standards

Attendance and punctuality are essential elements of efficient and effective job performance. Employees are expected to maintain a good attendance record. A good attendance record means:

- Employee starts work at the scheduled time
- Employee works until the end of their schedule
- Employee is not tardy (typically 15 minutes late)
- Employee clocks in/out (as appropriate for the position) and returns from meal periods appropriately

In the event an employee is unable to meet these expectations, he/she must provide proper notice and approval from their supervisor in advance. Failure to provide proper notice and/or get approval makes an absence unexcused. Supervisors may evaluate extraordinary circumstances of a tardy or absence and determine whether or not to count the incident as excused. Verified absences or illnesses covered under approved family medical leave, worker's compensation, and/or the Americans with Disabilities Act accommodation are considered excused.

The fact that an employee has accumulated time off available does not diminish the importance of providing notice and getting approval. Paid time off policies describe proper notice approval procedures for use of sick time, vacation, and holidays.

Any employee member whose attendance record reflects an unacceptable pattern of unexcused tardiness and/or absences will be notified of the problem. Excessive unexcused tardiness and/or absences will result in disciplinary action and affects performance reviews, requests for promotion and possibly continued employment.

Human Resources is available to advise supervisors and employees on this policy and help supervisors evaluate extenuating circumstances and assignment of absences as excused or unexcused.

3.16 Personal Use of Phone/Personal Phone Calls

While it is expected that it will be necessary for employees to make or receive personal phone calls periodically, it is expected that the frequency will not interfere with the

quantity and/or quality of work. Employees should also refrain from personal use of cell phones during work hours.

3.17 Employment Eligibility and Sponsorship

3.17.1 Employment Eligibility

It is the policy of the University, in accordance with the Immigration Reform and Control Act of 1986 (IRCA), to hire only U.S. citizens and foreign nationals authorized to work in the United States. The University is a participating employer of the E-verify Program. All new employees require approval by the Department of Homeland Security (DHS) to determine eligibility to work in the United States.

All employees (faculty, staff, and student) will complete a form I-9 and produce acceptable documents within three days of starting work. Every effort will be made to have I-9 information completed by the start date.

Only authorized University personnel will complete the employer section of the form and verify documents. For faculty and staff positions this authorized person is in Human Resources. For students the person is in Enrollment Services or Human Resources. A copy of presented documents will be kept with the I-9.

Human Resources will review all I-9s to ensure accuracy and follow up on missing information. Human Resources will coordinate use of E-Verify system including data entry. If follow-up is necessary Human Resources will communicate with the employee, monitor deadlines and determine if the matter has been resolved.

Information will be stored electronically in secure, password protected databases and securely as physical records in Human Resources.

No employee will be allowed to work if I-9 information and E-Verify is not completed within three days. Notices that the University participates in E-Verify are posted in Human Resources and other places on campus that employment posters are posted.

3.17.2 Sponsorship

Employees who are authorized to work under a non-immigrant visa must report any change in personal information or status to Human Resources.

Additional information regarding sponsorship requests and approvals can be found in the Human Resources Employment Eligibility and Sponsorship Policy.

3.18 Employment of Relatives

The University supports equal employment opportunities and seeks to hire and retain the best employees possible. Employment of relatives may create actual or perceived conflicts of interest, favoritism, or adverse treatment. For these reasons:

• Relatives of employees may be employed only if it can be demonstrated that the related candidate is better qualified than other candidates and the potential for

favoritism, conflicts of interest and adverse treatment are thoroughly explored, documented and determined to be minimal.

- Employees may not directly supervise or participate in employment related decision-making processes affecting the appointment, retention, tenure, work assignments, promotion, demotion, termination, or salary of other relatives.
- For the purposes of this policy, "relative" shall be defined as the following: Spouse or domestic partner, mother or father, sisters or brothers, daughters or sons, (or their in-law equivalents), aunts, uncles, cousins, nieces, nephews or anyone residing in the employee's home on a legal guardianship basis or who are not legally married but live together in a marital-like relationship.
- If two employees become related subsequent to employment the employees transfer to another department (if a job is available) or resignation of one individual may be required to ensure the employees do not directly supervise or participate in a decision-making process affecting the appointment, retention, tenure, work assignments, promotion, demotion, termination or salary of other relatives.

Candidates for employment and employees are required to disclose relations. Should a hiring manager seek to hire a relative of an employee they must document how the hiring meets the requirements above. The Human Resources department is responsible for reviewing requests to employee relatives and documenting eligibility for employment under the policy.

3.19 Work Related Injury or Illness

- All employees (faculty, staff and student workers) are covered by Worker's
 Compensation insurance and will receive benefits in accordance with Missouri Worker's
 Compensation Law. Employees have a right to report a work-related injury; UHSP can't
 discriminate or retaliate against a person for reporting an injury. Following are the
 procedures to be followed in the event of a work-related injury or illness.
 - 1. Contact the Office of Public Safety at extension SAFE (7233). Explain nature of employee injury so security can respond appropriately with proper equipment (AED, first aid equipment, if necessary).

2. Obtain treatment for injury/illness.

- a. **First aid** Public safety officers are trained in first aid, CPR and AED use. Many faculty and staff are also CPR or first aid certified.
- b. For emergencies Public Safety will respond as well as contact 911. Public safety officers will coordinate emergency personnel. For work-related, life threatening injuries the employee will be transported to an in-network hospital such as BJC Emergency Medical Department. Human Resources will coordinate follow up treatment.
- c. **For non-emergencies** Human Resources will provide authorization prior to the employee receiving treatment at the appropriate facility, such as BarnesCare Midtown.
- d. **For body substance exposure** Immediately contact 1-877-POST-EXP (877-767-8397) for 24-hour consult regarding exposure to blood and/or body fluids

due to a needle stick and/or splash.

- Notify your supervisor and Human Resources of the injury or illness. If the injury occurs outside normal University hours, Public Safety will contact the medical authorizer listed below, if seriousness of the injury is significant (life and limb).
- 4. **Complete an Injury Report** immediately and submit to Human Resources. This report must be completed as soon as possible. The form is available on online in Campus Web and available from security if the injury occurs after hours.
- 5. **Notify Human Resources when injured employee returns from treatment.**Medical expenses for work-related injuries are the responsibility of the University pursuant to Missouri Work Comp laws.

Transportation to Treatment: Public Safety, as available and if needed, can transport employees to BarnesCare Midtown or to Barnes Hospital Emergency Department. In many instances a supervisor may authorize another employee to provide transportation or the injured employee may transport themselves if the injury isn't serious and it is safe to do so.

Authorized Treatment Facilities: In the state of Missouri employers can authorize treatment at specific providers. For University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis initial treatment will be received at:

First Aid:

On campus by trained and authorized personnel

Emergency Care:

Barnes-Jewish Hospital Emergency Department 400 S. Kingshighway Blvd. St. Louis, MO 63110 (314) 362 - 9123

Non-Emergencies and Urgent Care:

BarnesCare Midtown
5000 Manchester Ave
St Louis, MO 63110
Phone:(314) 747-5800

Concentra - Midtown
6542 Manchester Ave
St. Louis, MO 63139
Phone:(314) 647-0081

Fax:(314) 747-5866

7:30 a.m.-6 p.m. Monday through Friday 8 a.m.-5 p.m. Monday through Friday

Body Substance Exposure:

1-877-POST-EXP (877-767-8397) for 24hr consult

Personnel who can authorize treatment: Authorization is necessary for non-emergency/urgent care treatment. The Medical Authorization Form for non-emergency treatment is available in Human Resources and the security base station in the UHSP Garage. The appropriate administrator may complete a form for the employee to take with them to treatment, fax the form or call to authorize treatment.

3.20 Solicitation and Distribution

Other than University-sanctioned campaigns, University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis prohibits solicitation of any type and for any purpose during the working time of the soliciting employee or the employee being solicited.

Use of University email distribution groups for solicitation, distribution of circulars, handbills or literature of any type during working time are not permitted. Bulletin board postings must be approved by appropriate student affairs, student services, Culture and Campus Life, Residential Life, or Human Resources staff member.

Solicitation and distribution by any person, not employed by the University, is prohibited without prior authorization. Solicitation for any University-sanctioned campaigns, such as the United Way, is permitted under this policy.

3.21 Recognition Awards

- 1. An award for outstanding contributions to pharmacy education is selected annually by the undergraduate members of the Beta Kappa chapter of Rho Chi Society.
- 2. The <u>Joe E. Haberle Outstanding Educator Alumni Award</u> recognizes faculty of the University for their commitment to educational excellence. Nominations are open to all full-time faculty members with three years of service (on the University payroll). Past recipients of the award are ineligible for a period of five years from the time they were selected. Nomination forms are distributed to students, faculty and staff. The award recipient is selected by the nominations and awards committee of the Alumni Association, using specific criteria determined by the association. The award is a monetary stipend, a suitably engraved award from the Alumni Association, and an inscription on the Outstanding Educator plaque located in the University library and a reserved parking space for 12 months. The award is presented at Commencement.

3. Staff Excellence Award:

The Staff Excellence Award recognizes a staff member who meets the following criteria:

- Performs duties and responsibilities in a sustained, outstanding manner
- Consistently exceeds expectations or has made an exceptional contribution or provided exceptional service to the University;
- Demonstrates our values of integrity, a desire to make a positive difference, personal growth and development, supportive of inclusion and diversity and professionalism
- Contributions lead to making the University a more supporting and enriching environment for growth, advancement and leadership

4. Faculty Excellence Award:

The Faculty Excellence Award recognizes a faculty member who meets the following criteria:

Performs duties and responsibilities in a sustained, outstanding manner. This
includes outstanding performance in teaching, scholarship/research, clinical
practice (where applicable) and service

- Consistently exceeds expectations or has made an exceptional contribution or provided exceptional service to the University
- Demonstrates our values of integrity, a desire to make a positive difference, personal growth and development, supportive of inclusion and diversity and professionalism
- Contributions lead to making the University a more supporting and enriching environment for growth, advancement and leadership

3.22 Copyright Policy

3.22.1 Introduction

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis encourages faculty, staff and students to be creative in their teaching, research, scholarly and artistic endeavors, patient care and work activities to advance their careers and reputations and contribute to the reputation and prestige of the University. The University's policy on copyright ownership establishes guidelines on copyright ownership, use, and revenue sharing that are reasonable and appropriate to compensate creators and support copyrightable works by UHSP.

Copyright law protects the tangible expression of original works of authorship. Ideas are not protected under copyright but may be protected under patent law if they meet the criteria for a patent. Copyright owners have certain exclusive rights to reproduce works, make derivative works, and disseminate works through performance, display, distribution, sales and licensing. These rights are limited by some exceptions, including "fair use" of insubstantial portions of copyrighted materials for teaching and other academic purposes. This policy sets forth the rights and responsibilities of the University, its faculty, students and employees in their roles as members of the University community in creating and using copyrighted works. The copyright policy is subject to University policies addressing conflicts of interest, conflicts of commitment and patents.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library.

3.23 Patent Policy

3.23.1 Introduction

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis ("UHSP") is dedicated to advancing the knowledge and practice of pharmacy and the health sciences through its mission of education, research, scholarship, and patient care. UHSP strives to provide an environment that encourages and supports innovation and promotes the discovery of new knowledge and inventions. UHSP may seek to protect and reduce new knowledge or inventions to practice whenever there is the potential to make a significant contribution to UHSP's mission or the greater good for the general public. This policy provides a framework for establishing ownership of patentable inventions while rewarding inventors and sustaining the research enterprise at UHSP.

Policy details may be accessed in the UHSP Policy Library through the MyApps Portal.

3.24 No Weapons on Campus

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis prohibits all persons from possessing, transporting, storing, using, or selling weapons on its property, regardless of whether the person is licensed to carry the weapon or not, to the fullest extent allowed by law. This includes persons holding a Conceal Carry Weapons permit. Authorized law enforcement officers and University security personnel are not subject to this policy. Examples of weapons include but are not limited to handguns, firearms, explosives, BB/air guns, archery equipment or other deadly or dangerous weapons.

The policy covers all property owned by or operated by the University, including buildings and surrounding areas such as sidewalks, walkways, driveways and parking areas under University ownership or control. Vehicles owned or managed by the University are covered by this policy at all times regardless of whether they are on University property at the time or not.

Visitors to campus who violate this policy will be denied access or removed from the premises. Employees violating this policy will be subject to disciplinary action up to and including immediate termination or dismissal. Students violating this policy will be subject to sanctions outlined in the Student Code.

3.25 Reasonable Search

The University reserves the right to conduct searches of any person or vehicle that enters University property. This provision includes searches of clothing, lockers, purses, bags, backpacks or briefcases, and vehicles on the property.

3.26 Pharmacy Licensure

Pharmacist faculty who interact with students in pharmacy practice settings are required to have an active pharmacist license in good standing based on the location of their practice site and governing board of pharmacy rules and regulations. When licensed in Missouri, a Medication Therapy Services (MTS) certificate is also required. Preceptors and adjunct faculty supervising introductory or advanced pharmacy practice experiences are required to have a current pharmacist license in good standing based on the state in which they practice and governing board of pharmacy rules and regulations. Non-pharmacist preceptors can be approved by UHSP and the Missouri Board of Pharmacy through a special application process.

Pharmacy residents are expected to obtain a Missouri Pharmacy License with a Medication Therapy Services (MTS) certificate by August 1st. If a license is not obtained by August 31st, the resident will be subject to termination unless documented,

extenuating circumstances are presented to the residency program director. A separate application for a certificate of medication therapeutic plan authority must be submitted to the Missouri Board of Pharmacy. Individuals licensed in another state may obtain a temporary pharmacist license for practicing pharmacy in conjunction with their post-graduate residency training program.

If a resident does not have a Missouri Pharmacy license prior to the start of the residency on July 1st, practice sites may require that the resident obtain a pharmacy intern license while waiting for full pharmacist licensure. The resident is expected to notify the residency program director when their licensure examination date is scheduled and forward a copy of their license as soon as possible.

Specific questions related to licensure and reciprocity requirements should be addressed to the Missouri State Board of Pharmacy or the Department of Registration and Education in Illinois.

3.27 Consulting or Outside/Additional Employment - Faculty

Faculty asked by individuals outside the University to serve as expert witnesses, consultants or in other professional capacities should exercise care in accepting such responsibilities to ensure that any and all such activities follow the guidelines in Faculty Policies - Outside Employment/Consulting.

3.28 Faculty Grievance Policy

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis is committed to fostering a fair and collegial environment. This policy is an effort to promptly and respectfully provide fair and equitable resolutions to any concerns or grievances raised by the faculty. Every attempt should be made to resolve any and all complaints or disputes through informal discussion. Faculty members are encouraged to attempt to address concerns in consultation with the institutional channels of authority, starting with the parties involved, then the department chair and then the dean, prior to resorting to formal grievance procedures.

However, informal resolution is strictly voluntary, and a faculty member can submit a formal grievance claim at any point. If efforts to resolve the grievance informally prove futile, a faculty member can choose to request a formal investigation into an alleged grievance as discussed below.

3.28.1 Process

The objective of this policy is to define a formal mechanism to resolve disputes raised by any faculty member. Initiation of a formal grievance is a serious process and must be initiated in good faith.

Filing a grievance may not be used as grounds for delaying consideration of reappointment procedures, promotion or tenure beyond the time that such consideration is required as outlined in the faculty bylaws.

This policy is not intended to replace legal deliberations nor may people with legal expertise such as attorneys participate directly in the process, although attorneys may assist in preparation of documents or the collection of any evidence to be presented to the committee. Attorneys may not appear with or on behalf of the grievant, witnesses, or the institution during any committee proceedings.

3.28.2 Guiding Principles:

- Facilitate and foster a collegial work environment.
- Fair and equitable resolutions to any faculty grievances.
- Conduct a fair, objective, and impartial review.
- Address only issues that qualify as complaints or grievances that are detrimental to the faculty member's professional career and/or ability to work at the institution (as discussed below in section D).

3.28.3 Definitions

A grievance is a written complaint filed by a faculty member against another faculty member, an administrator, a committee or the institution because of a violation of rights as provided by the institution's policies or by federal and state laws. Except as otherwise provided in Section E below, a grievance may include any allegations of wrong doing by an institutional action or decision related to a faculty member's employment.

A grievant is any member with a faculty appointment at any rank, whether full or part time such as adjuncts and visiting faculty.

A respondent: The party against whom the grievance was filed.

An administrator is any person who serves as part of the academic leadership team or serves as a department chair, director, dean, president or any member of the president's staff.

Dean refers to the dean of the school where the grievant faculty member is employed. In case the dean is the party against whom the grievance is lodged, the role of the dean as referenced in all the subsequent sections of this policy will be filled by the president.

A witness is any person employed by the University who has knowledge of the alleged action and who can provide information and/or evidence regarding the details of the incident.

A faculty advocate is an advisor who is a colleague invited to accompany the grievant or administrator to a meeting to provide advice and support or to observe the proceedings.

Executive summary is a redacted account of the committee deliberations related to a grievance that serves to inform future committee decision making.

3.28.4 What falls under this policy?

Except as provided in Section E below, the following are examples of grievances covered by this policy.

- Any allegation that an administrative act or decision has negatively impacted the faculty member's professional career or professional activities in violation of the faculty bylaws or institutional policies or the specifications of a faculty member's employment contract.
- Any violation of academic freedom.

- Any violation of federal and state laws, or regulations, that is not otherwise covered under another specific University policy and procedures.
- Any grievance that arises from decisions involving denial of reappointment, promotion or tenure, provided there is reasonable evidence that the policies and procedures governing these decisions were not followed or were violated. The grievance committee (GC) is not involved in assessment of the professional accomplishments of the faculty member nor may the GC replace the promotion and tenure committee in its judgment or assessment of the candidate's professional accomplishments as part of the promotion and tenure process.
- Any grievance lodged against another faculty member for actions performed as part of a specific institutional position or University role that negatively impacts the professional career or professional activities of the grievant.

3.28.5 This Policy does NOT apply to

- Allegations of discrimination or harassment on the basis of race, religion, sex, age, color, religion, national origin, sexual orientation, disability, or any other protected classification or group under the law. These complaints should be addressed to the office of human resources.
- Disputes over salary grades or salary/rate of pay, or disputes over a supervisor's judgement regarding job performance or professional competence should be brought to the director of human resources. Although problems of this nature are not covered by the grievance policy, a faculty member with these concerns is encouraged to discuss them with the director of human resources, department head, division head or the appropriate contact within the applicable dean or vice president's office. (Claims that these decisions violated the institution's policies do fall under the purview of the grievance policy.)
- Disputes between individual faculty members that do not involve a violation of institutional policies.
- Any laboratory, research, environmental health or safety related institutional policy adopted to comply with applicable legal requirements including but not limited to, IACUC, IRB policies, Conflict of Interest policy, Research Integrity policy, or Export Control.

3.28.6 Faculty Grievance Committee (GC) Composition:

This is a standing committee to be called upon as issues arise.

During the spring semester, faculty senate will take nominations from the floor and faculty will elect a chair of the grievance committee from the faculty at large for the following academic year. The chair of the committee must be a faculty member at least at the associate professor level.

By the beginning of the academic year, faculty within each academic department will elect a member and an alternate to serve a one year term on this committee. Once a sitting committee takes up a grievance review, that committee will remain in session until the grievance process is completed, even if this extends beyond the academic year or the members' term on that committee.

Eligibility:

- To be eligible to serve on this committee, the faculty member must be full time and should have been employed by the institution for at least one academic year.
- Faculty who are part of the academic leadership team or serve as division directors are not eligible to serve on this committee.
- In case of concerns about absence of impartiality or conflict of interest, both the grievant and the respondent have the right to submit a written request that individual members of the GC be recused or replaced by an alternate. No more than one member can be excluded by one party, unless the members are involved in the grievance matter.
- In the event the grievance filed involves denial of promotion or tenure, members of the promotion and tenure committee involved in that recommendation will be ineligible to serve on the grievance committee addressing that case.
- Committee members may request to be recused with respect to any individual case and sitting members of the committee may likewise request any other member be recused. Determination of membership standing on any individual case should be made prior to hearing the case. Any recused member will be replaced by the alternate from his/her respective department. A party or a witness is disqualified from otherwise serving as a member of the GC.
- Any faculty member participating in the grievance resolution process may not be subject to reprisal or retaliation.

3.28.7 Initiation of The Formal Grievance Procedures

<u>Time Standards:</u> A faculty member may initiate a grievance within 3 months from the date that an administrative decision is made or an administrative practice, or action that is deemed unfair by the faculty member occurs or 3 months from the date the faculty member became aware of the precipitating event, whichever is later. The time limits may be extended if the grievant can demonstrate good cause for the delay (For example if a faculty member is not on campus for a significant portion of the 3-months' time frame).

Procedures:

Every attempt should be made to resolve any and all complaints or disputes through informal discussion. Faculty members are encouraged to attempt to address concerns in consultation with the institutional channels of authority, starting with the parties involved, then the department chair and then the dean, prior to resorting to formal grievance procedures. If a dispute cannot be resolved by either of those means, a grievant may submit a formal statement to request investigation of the alleged grievance to the any member of the GC who will then forward it to the GC chair. The document must include the following:

- A description of the grievance and any known parties involved.
- The specific policy, procedure, or established practice that was allegedly violated from among the faculty bylaws or employee handbook or federal or state laws, or regulations
- The date of the alleged violation and/or the date the faculty member became aware of the violation.
- An account of any previous attempts to resolve the issue
- The desired resolution or redress of the matter.
- Signature of the grievant indicating that he/she understands and agrees to abide by the provisions of the Faculty Handbook relating to grievances.

- A statement of waiver of confidentiality of documents pertinent to the faculty member's grievance such as personnel files, recommendation letters, assessment letters, etc....
 - A faculty member may request a meeting with the GC chair to seek guidance and assistance in preparing the grievance statement. The GC chair and members do not provide legal advice.
 - Ordinarily, within 5 business days of receiving the grievance statement, the GC chair will forward the statement of grievance and all the submitted documents to GC members. If the grievance is initiated when the University is not in regular session, then the time will start when the University resumes normal session.
 - Within 15 business days of receiving the grievance documents, the GC will collectively decide on whether the statement constitutes a grieve-able issue.
- ➤ If the GC determines that the matter does not constitute a grieve-able issue, the GC chair will communicate the committee's decision to dismiss the grievance in writing to the grievant, stating the grounds for dismissal. The GC may dismiss a grievance if the grievant was not a faculty member at the time the grievance occurred, the grievance was filed in an untimely manner, or if the evidence submitted clearly suggests that there has not been any violation of a right protected by federal and state laws or an established institutional policy as outlined in the Faculty Handbook, or the faculty member's contract. Within 15 business days of receiving the GC letter, the grievant may submit supplemental evidence to the GC for reconsideration.
- ➤ If the GC determines that an investigation into the grievance is warranted, the GC chair will communicate the committee's decision to the involved parties.

Initiation of investigation into a grievance

- The GC will gather all relevant documentation and evidence.
- The GC will maintain confidentiality of its process and deliberations and will limit communications to the parties or persons who have a need to know due to their job duties or responsibilities or in order to obtain advice or direction.
- The GC may consult with any witnesses as provided by the grievant or other involved parties.
- If the GC determines it is necessary to meet with the grievant, the grievant may have one faculty advocate or advisor to provide advice and support or to observe the proceedings. Witnesses will only participate during testifying. No new allegations can be introduced during the meeting. The faculty advocate or advisor may be one of the witnesses. The respondent may also request to have an advisor or advocate during his/her meeting with the GC. All advocates must be employees of the University.

3.28.8 Decision

• Ordinarily, the decision of the GC committee must be made within a maximum of 90 days from the date the grievance was processed.

- The decision will be based on a majority vote. Decisions will be made based solely on the information brought forward by the parties involved in the grievance. Members who do not assent to the decision may file a dissenting opinion that will be included in the documentation shared with all parties.
- The GC will communicate a statement including the decision, rationale, and a recommended resolution of the grievance to the grievant, the respondent, the dean and the director of HR.
- Within 21 days of receiving the GC decision, the dean will issue a letter specifying the institution's position and the course of action regarding the grievance. If the dean decides to go against the GC recommendations, he/she must provide the grounds for this decision as part of the letter. The letter will be given to the chair of GC, the head of HR, the grievant and the parties involved.

3.28.9 Record Keeping

• The GC chair will submit to the Director of Human Resources, any confidential documents related to the committee deliberations regarding a specific grievance for recordkeeping purposes.

3.28.10 <u>Recourse</u>

- If either the grievant or the respondent is not satisfied with the GC decision, the dissatisfied party has the right to submit a written appeal to the appropriate dean within 21 days.
- The appeal must state the grounds for the appeal and include sufficient evidence that the GC's decision was unreasonable or violated University policy and procedure. For example, the decision may be appealed if it is not supported by
 - a) a minimal level of credible evidence or
 - b) a preponderance of the evidence.
- The dean will notify the involved parties regarding his/her decision on the request for an appeal within 14 days. If an appeal is granted, an appeal review committee will be assembled from the alternate representatives elected from each department. No faculty member who served as part of the GC should serve as part of the appeal review committee. The appeals committee will evaluate the grievance and provide a recommendation to the dean.
- If there are grounds for further appeal, the faculty member can appeal to the president for a final decision.

3.28.11 Dismissal of A Grievance

Once initiated, a grievance procedure can only be discontinued by a written request from the faculty member who filed the grievance or as stated under the procedures section (G) regardless of whether the faculty member decides to pursue a legal action.

Initiation of a grievance does not preclude the grievant from pursuing legal recourse at any time.

In case a faculty member decides to file a lawsuit, the president and legal counsel of the institution will be provided a copy of all the documents pertinent to the ongoing grievance deliberations.

Faculty Grievance Policy approved May 18, 2018

4 Compensation Policies

4.1 <u>Business Hours, work schedules, work week</u>

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis's normal business hours are 8:30 a.m. to 5 p.m. with one hour for lunch. Specific work schedules may differ by position and are established to meet operational and service objectives.

The work week for employees runs from Sunday to Saturday.

4.2 Meal Periods

Employees working greater than seven hours per day will be granted a meal break to renew attention and energy after working for an extensive period so they can remain productive and efficient in performing assigned tasks.

Exempt employees will coordinate meal breaks with their supervisor. Typically, this meal break should not exceed an hour per workday. Exempt employees are encouraged to take time away from work to eat for at least a thirty-minute break, however some positions, schedules or staffing may necessitate a working lunch at times.

For more details please see the Meal Break Policy in the Policy Library.

4.3 **Payroll Procedures**

Payments to University employees must be made through the payroll system. This includes remuneration for additional services rendered for which pay over and above the base rate is due. All wages are required by federal law to be reported to the Internal Revenue Service. This includes, but is not limited to, base wages, honorariums, lecturer fees, consultant fees and salary replacement dollars from grants and contracts.

Requests for additional pay must be timely and submitted to Human Resources on a "Personnel Action Request" form 15 days prior to pay date. Unless extenuating circumstances dictate otherwise, and if approved by vice president finance/CFO, no off-cycle pay checks will be generated.

Direct deposit is available for all faculty, staff and student workers to the payee's bank of choice. Multiple accounts may be set up for deposit. If a pay date falls on a weekend or holiday it will be moved to the last working day before the weekend/holiday.

The University operates separate payroll cycles for faculty, staff and students. Payroll services are managed through the Business Office.

4.3.1 Faculty Payroll

Faculty are paid monthly on the 28th of the month; if a pay date falls on a weekend or holiday it will be moved to the last working day before the weekend/holiday.

Faculty with an academic year appointment may choose to defer payments over twelve months rather than the nine or ten months of their appointments. Changes for deferring payment over twelve months to being paid only over the terms of an academic year appointment must be made through Paycom using the *Academic year pay option form* checklist.

4.3.2 Student Payroll

It is the responsibility of faculty and staff who employ student workers to manage student worker timecards. Time is collected from the 16th to 15th of each month and paid on the 28th. Payroll will provide instruction on timecard approval, and send reminders when approval is due. Failure to approve student worker timecards may result in a delay of pay. Special checks will not be written merely for failure to timely approve hours worked by students. Student pay must be at University established rates unless an exception has been approved.

4.4 Merit Salary Increases

Salary increases will be determined by the University's budget, and budgeted salary changes are established as a merit pool. Merit increases will be awarded to employees who satisfy the performance standards established by their supervisors each year at the beginning of the fiscal year, July 1 or beginning of the next academic year period (August 1 or September 1). Employees will not receive more than one increase per twelvemonth period except in extenuating circumstances approved by the president.

For consistency across the University, the president will establish guidelines for employees who meet expectations or are fully successful based on the merit pool approved.

Each member of the President's Staff reviews the overall performance of his/her employees and determines the merit increase of each employee based on the guidelines for the year. He/she is responsible for ensuring that his/her budget does not exceed the merit pool established for his/her area(s) of responsibility and that the average annual increase does not exceed the approved percentage. Any pool associated with vacant or new positions cannot be used without permission from the President. Market

adjustments and promotions/position upgrades should be budgeted separately from merit increases.

Merit increases must be submitted on a Personnel Action Request (PAR) and must be approved by the appropriate President's Staff person, Human Resources and President **prior** to communication to the employee.

Exceptions to this policy are subject to approval by assistant vice president, human resources and the president.

4.4.1 Merit Increase Eligibility

Employees at maximum salary for a given position may receive a lump sum payment in lieu of an increase.

New employees with less than four months of service by the time a merit increase would be effective are ineligible. For example, an employee hired March 3 would not be eligible for increase July 1. An exception may be made when specific terms have been agreed to as a condition of employment. Employees with less than one year of service in the review period may be subject to a pro-rata adjustment based on service at time of evaluation.

4.5 **Supplemental pay**

4.5.1 Supplemental pay - Faculty

Supplemental or additional pay for faculty employees may be appropriate include a faculty member receiving and interim administrative appointments and, teaching additional work outside the range of their assigned workload supplemental teaching assignments (e.g. continuing education courses or additional courses beyond typical workload range). Special rules apply for faculty performing sponsored research are discussed below.

Faculty members are prohibited from receiving additional pay from any government agency that would increase their total, regular compensation (i.e. institutional base salary) for the term of their appointment. Salary recovery approved by the government for time and effort spent on government grants and contracts is intended to replace (as opposed to supplement) institutional salary, time, and effort, except when the approved salary recovery is for time and effort on the grant/contract that takes place outside scope of the faculty member's appointment (i.e. academic year faculty getting supplemental pay authorized under the grant for research over the summer). Some privately funded grants, contracts, and funding for scholarly and clinical activities may allow for additional pay. See faculty policies regarding research and scholarly activity.

Supplemental pay for faculty must be requested by a supervisor on a Personnel Action Form or Faculty Grants Form prior to the start of the work for the additional pay to be authorized.

4.6 Separation of Employment

An employee's last actual day of work shall represent the official termination day or separation from employment in instances of resignation or dismissal (voluntary or involuntary). If an employee is on an approved leave of absence, such as FMLA, the final day of leave shall be the termination/separation day.

4.6.1 Final payment and recovery of assets

Payroll will process a final paycheck as soon as administratively possible no later than the next payday when an employee terminates. The employee is responsible for ensuring that all University assets/property (computers, equipment, keys, ID, etc.) are returned prior to issuance of a final paycheck. University assets or property that is not returned will be withheld from the final check.

4.7 Flextime

Flextime refers to a range of flexible hours that permit employees to choose the times they will start and end work (start/leave early or start/leave late relative to normal business hours). An employee's supervisor, appropriate President's Staff person and assistant vice president, human resources must agree to the flextime schedule. While employees may request consideration of a flextime schedule allowing for a specific arrival and departure time, approval of the request will be granted only when specific conditions are met.

- Flextime scheduling must not interfere with office productivity, adversely affect other departments or diminish services
- Flextime must not increase staffing costs or force overtime
- Flextime schedules must be established in advance to be set for one pay period at minimum. It cannot change from day to day or week to week
- Flexible schedules are permitted at the supervisor's discretion
- Employees are required to work the core hours of their shift, typically 10 a.m. to 3:30 p.m. for an 8:30 a.m. to 5 p.m. position
- Flextime doesn't reduce or change the total hours/work load for a given position
- Flextime schedules will be reviewed regularly and may be changed or revoked by the supervisor at any time

5 Time Off

5.1 Absence Requests/Report

All full-time regular employees who are entitled to paid leave benefits must request leave from their supervisor in advance and record absences taken using Paycom system. Individual departments may require employees to request vacation, personal holidays or scheduled sick days a specific time period in advance.

Excessive absences, particularly those without notice, may affect an employee's annual performance review.

Exempt employees may request and take off in <u>half-day</u> increments. Payroll will monitor exempt staff to ensure salary and pay is appropriately tracked and exempt staff are not being paid less than their salary's compensation.

Non-exempt staff may request and take vacation or personal holiday time off in <u>half-day</u> increments. Sick time may be applied in hour long increments.

5.2 Status Changes and Credit for Work History for Time off Benefits

Employees who change status from full-time to part-time are allowed to retain all of their sick and vacation balances for use while part-time. However, once in a non-benefit eligible status they do not accrue time.

Employees who change from part-time to full-time or are rehired into a full-time position will be granted valid service years for each full year of full-time service. Service as a student worker is not eligible. Part-time service will be prorated to a full-time service equivalent. For example, a person working part-time as a 0.25 FTE for four years who goes full-time would receive one year service credit. Service years will apply toward staff vacation levels allowing these employees to benefit from their prior service to the University. This policy does not apply toward promotion or tenure for faculty.

5.3 Family and Medical Leave Act (FMLA)

5.3.1 Basic FMLA Leave and Active Duty Leave

Provided certain requirements are met, those employees who have been employed for at least 12 months <u>and</u> for at least 1,250 hours during the previous 12 month period may be entitled to up to 12 weeks of leave *during a rolling twelve month period measured* <u>backward</u> from the date leave first begins, under the following circumstances:

- The birth of a child and to care for such child or placement for adoption or foster care
 of a child
- To care for an immediate family member (spouse (as determined by FMLA), child under 18 years old or 18 or over that is incapable of self-care, or parent) with a serious health condition
- Because of a serious health condition which renders the employee unable to work
- Because of any qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that your spouse (as
 determined by FMLA), son (of any age), daughter (of any age) or parent, defined as
 a covered military member, is on active duty (or has been notified of an impending
 call or order to active duty) in the National Guard or Reserves or is a retired member
 of Armed Forces or Reserves and has been notified of an impending call or order to
 active duty in support of a contingency operation (Please note certain exigencies are
 limited to a certain number of days of leave.)

5.3.2 Military Caregiver Leave

An employee also may take Military Caregiver Leave to care for a spouse (as determined by FMLA), son (of any age), daughter (of any age), parent or next of kin (as defined) who is a current member of the Armed Forces, including the National Guard or Reserves, who is undergoing medical treatment, recuperation, or therapy, is otherwise in outpatient status, or is otherwise on the temporary disability retired list, for a serious injury or illness. A covered service member incurs a serious illness or injury for purposes

of this paragraph when he or she is medically unfit to perform the duties of his or her office, grade, rank or rating.

Eligible employees are entitled to a total of 26 weeks of unpaid Military Caregiver Leave during a single 12-month period. This single 12-month period begins on the first day an eligible employee takes Military Caregiver Leave and ends 12 months after that date.

The leave entitlement described in this Section applies on a per-covered service member, per injury basis. However, no more than 26 weeks of leave may be taken within a single 12-month period by any covered employee. Even in circumstances where an employee takes other leave covered by the federal FMLA under numbers 1-4 in the Basic FMLA Leave and Active Duty Leave section above, the combined leave shall not exceed 26 weeks during that 12-month period.

5.3.3 FMLA Definitions

5.3.4 Serious Health Condition

A "serious health condition" referenced in numbers (2) and (3) of the <u>Basic FMLA Leave</u> and <u>Active Duty</u> Leave section above means an illness, injury, impairment, or physical or mental condition that involves:

- In-patient care (i.e., an overnight stay) in a hospital or other medical care facility (including any period of incapacity or any subsequent treatment in connection with such in-patient care)
- Period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive full calendar days, and any subsequent treatment or period of incapacity relating to the same condition that also involves (i) treatment 2 or more times by a health care provider or under the supervisor of a health care provider within 30 days of the start of the incapacity, or (ii) treatment by a health care provider on at least one (1) occasion within 7 days of the start of the incapacity which results in a regimen of continuing treatment under the supervision of a health care provider
- Any period of incapacity due to pregnancy, or for prenatal care
- Any period of incapacity due to a chronic serious health condition requiring periodic visits of at least twice a year for treatment by a health care provider
- A period of incapacity which is permanent or long-term due to a condition for which treatment may not be effective, during which the employee (or family member) must be under the continuing supervision of, but need not be receiving active treatment by, a health care provider
- Any period of absence to receive multiple treatments by a health care provider or under the supervision of a health care provider, either for restorative surgery after an accident or other injury, or for a condition that will likely result in a period of incapacity of more than 3 consecutive calendar days in the absence of medical intervention or treatment

5.3.5 Qualifying Exigency

A "qualifying exigency" referenced in number (4) of the <u>Basic FMLA and Active Duty Leave</u> section above refers to the following circumstances:

- Short-term deployment: to address issues arising when the notification of a call or order to active duty is seven (7) days or fewer
- Military events and related activities: to attend official military events or family assistance programs or briefings
- Childcare and School activities: for qualifying childcare and school related reasons for a child, legal ward or stepchild of a covered military member
- Financial and legal arrangements: to make or update financial or legal affairs to address the absence of a covered military member
- Counseling: to attend counseling provided by someone other than a health care provider for oneself, for the covered military member, or child, legal ward, or stepchild of the covered military member
- Rest and recuperation: to spend up to five (5) days for each period in which a covered military member is on a short-term rest leave period during a period of deployment
- Post-deployment activities: to attend official ceremonies or programs sponsored by the military for up to 90 days after a covered military member's active duty terminates or to address issues arising from the death of a covered military member while on active duty
- Additional activities: for other events where the University and the employee agree on the time and duration of the leave

5.3.6 FMLA limits when spouses work together

Eligible employees who are spouses are limited to a combined total of 12 weeks of leave during any 12-month period, if the leave is taken (1) for birth of a child; (2) for placement and care of a child; or (3) to care for a parent (but not "parent-in-law") with a serious health condition. Where the spouses both have used a portion of the 12-week entitlement for one of the above purposes, each are entitled to the difference between the amount he or she has taken individually and 12 weeks to care for a child with a serious health condition or to treat their own serious health condition.

5.3.7 Notice of need for FMLA Leave

If the leave is foreseeable (e.g., birth or placement, planned medical care, leave due to active duty of immediate family member), the employee must provide at least 30 days advance notice to their immediate supervisor, who will advise the Office of Human Resources. If circumstances prevent providing the 30 days advance notice, then the employee should provide as much notice as possible (ordinarily the same or next business day). If an employee fails to give the required notice for foreseeable leave with no reasonable excuse, the employee may be denied the taking of the leave until the employee provides adequate notice of the need for the leave. Employees must make every reasonable effort to schedule medical treatments so as not to disrupt the ongoing operations of the department.

5.3.8 Intermittent FMLA Leave

Intermittent leave also may be available depending upon an employee's serious health condition or an employee's immediate family member's serious health condition. Intermittent or reduced schedule leave for the birth or placement of a child for adoption or foster care may only be taken with approval from Human Resources. Military Caregiver Leave may be taken intermittently or on a reduced leave schedule when medically necessary. Employees taking intermittent leave must follow the University's standard call-in procedures absent unusual circumstance. Employees must specify if the reason for the call-in is related to an FMLA intermittent leave as opposed to a non-FMLA illness. The employee must, however, make a reasonable effort to schedule medical treatment so as not to disrupt unduly University operations. Further, if the need for leave is foreseeable based on planned medical treatment, the employer reserves the right to transfer the affected employee temporarily to an alternate position with equivalent pay and benefits for which the employee is qualified, if the transfer better accommodates the requested leave.

5.3.9 Documentation supporting FMLA leave

Your reason for the leave must be covered under FMLA and you must provide a completed FMLA Certification Form supporting the need for the leave for any event other than birth of a child. Human Resources will provide employees with the appropriate form to certify a serious health condition. A request for reasonable documentation of family relationship verifying the legitimacy of FMLA Leave may also be required. The employee will have 15 days in which to return a completed Certification form following receipt of the form from the University. If the employee fails to provide timely certification after being required to do so, the employee may be denied the taking of the leave under FMLA. If the Certification form is incomplete or insufficient, an employee will be given written notification of the information needed and will have seven days after receiving such written notice to provide the necessary information. If the form is complete but unclear the University reserves the right to have Human Resources contact the health care provider with the employee's permission and release. If there is reason to doubt the validity of the medical certification, a second opinion, at the expense of the University, related to the health condition may be required. If the original certification and second opinion differ, a third opinion, at the expense of the University, may be required. The opinion of the third health care provider, which the University and employee jointly select, will be the final and binding decision.

A request for Active Duty Leave must be supported by the Certification of Qualifying Exigency for Military Family Leave form as well as appropriate documentation, including the covered military member's active duty orders. A request for military Caregiver leave must be supported by the Certification for Serious Injury or Illness of Covered Service member form as well as any necessary supporting documentation.

5.3.10 Recertification

Under certain circumstances as provided by the law, including (but not limited to) situations in which the need or nature of the approved leave changes, the University may, in its sole discretion, require recertification of your serious health condition. The Company may also request recertification every year in which FMLA Leave is taken for any serious health condition that lasts longer than one year. In these situations you will have 15 days in which to provide, at your expense, a completed recertification form.

5.3.11 Substitution of paid leave

Employees are required to substitute and exhaust sick pay and vacation pay for leave requested. Such substituted paid time will run concurrently with, and be applied against, the 12 week maximum. Use of sick and vacation time will follow the established rules for each benefit. For birth of a child sick leave may only be used for the period of disability associated with the birth with the remainder of FMLA using other types of paid time off. Employees do not continue to accrue time off while off leave. Holidays falling during an entire week of FMLA leave will be counted towards FMLA leave. For a partial week of leave the holiday will not count as FMLA leave. After paid leave finishes running the remainder of the leave will be unpaid. If an employee takes paid sick leave for a condition that progresses into a serious health condition the University may designate all or some portion of related leave taken under this policy as FMLA, to the extent that the earlier leave meets the necessary qualifications.

5.3.12 Benefits under FMLA leave

During the 12 week maximum leave period, coverage under group health, dental, and voluntary life insurance plans, if any, will be maintained at the level and under the conditions coverage would have been provided had leave not been taken. Employees will be required to continue to pay their portion of any applicable premiums as if they had not taken leave and failure to do so may result in loss of coverage pursuant to the law. See Human Resources to make payment arrangements. If the employee chooses not to return to work for reasons other than a continued serious health condition of the employee or the employee's family member or a circumstance beyond the employee's control, the University will require the employee to reimburse the University the amount it paid for the employee's health insurance premium during the leave period.

5.3.13 Return to Work

As a condition of returning to work from a leave granted pursuant to (3) above, the employee must timely present a certification from his/her health care provider that the employee is able to perform the essential functions of his or her position. Restoration will be denied until the certification is presented. An employee returning from leave under this Policy, who has complied with its terms, generally will be restored to the same (or

equivalent) position the employee held prior to leave. A returning employee does not, however, have a greater right to restoration or other benefits than if the employee had been continuously employed during the leave period. Employees are to notify their supervisor and/or Human Resources of their intent to return to work at least two weeks prior to the anticipated date of return.

5.4 Holidays

Full time staff may observe all holidays designated for the University by the President. The University observes the following holidays:

New Year's Day July 4
Martin Luther King Day Labor Day

Memorial Day Thanksgiving Day (3)

Juneteenth Christmas Eve & Week following

Holidays are paid to full time benefits eligible employees who have paid time off before and after the holiday and who are regularly scheduled to work on that holiday.

5.4.1 Floating Holidays

Full-time benefits eligible employees (1.0 FTE) receive five floating holidays per year. Benefits eligible employees working less than 1.0 FTE will be eligible for two floating holidays per year. For employees commencing employment mid-year, the number of days will be awarded as follows. Benefits eligible employees working less than 1.0 FTE will receive the amount listed below reduced by one.

Before April 1st --- 5 days Before July 1st --- 3 days Before October 1st --- 1 day

No pay for unused floating holidays will be granted and unused days are forfeited at year end. Floating holidays scheduled in lieu of notice will be unpaid.

5.5 Absences Due to Illness and Family Emergencies/Sick Time

The University's sick leave benefit is intended to offer employees paid time off to deal with minor, short-term illnesses as well as allow employees to bank enough leave to cover a short-term disability. The University will not discriminate or retaliate against employees for taking Family and Medical Leave or having a protected disability. However, attendance is a factor in job performance.

For more detail, review the Absences Due to Illness-Sick Time Policy in the Policy Library.

5.5.1 Reporting an Absence due to Illness and/or Family Emergencies

It is each employee's responsibility to report the circumstances of his/her absence including probable duration of sick leave. Some absences due to illness or family emergency may fall outside the scope of this policy. Some absences may also be covered under the provisions of the Family and Medical Leave Act (see FMLA). Employees may always consult Human Resources for a private discussion of the need or use of sick leave under this policy.

5.5.2 Faculty

Faculty who will be absent from classes or a clinical site due to illness or emergency, please report to department chair directly or, if unable to reach the department chair, to the department's or college's administrative assistant as soon as possible. If a class session is to be canceled, request the administrative assistant to place an announcement on the electronic message board. Arrangements for coverage or cancellation of class, clerkship, or other scheduled activities are to be made through the department chair in cooperation with other University personnel or division faculty. Make arrangements for clinical site coverage through site coordinator, other site faculty and/or director of pharmacy at the site.

5.5.3 Accrual of Sick Leave

Full-time, benefits eligible employees accrue one day of possible sick leave for each month of employment at the University (nine days per year for academic-year employees; 12 days per year for calendar-year). Employees who are full-time benefits eligible but work less than 1.0 FTE will have sick accruals prorated. These days will continue to accrue up to a maximum of three months (66 working days) Maximum accrual will be prorated for less than 1.0 FTE.

Sick days accrue only while actively at work and do not accrue during any leave of absence period (except in circumstances of intermittent FMLA), paid or unpaid. Unused, accrued sick leave is not paid on separation from the University.

5.5.4 Appropriate uses of Sick Leave

Since one of the purposes of the leave policy is to ensure employees bank time in order to have protection against loss of income due to a prolonged illness there are limitations on when sick leave may be used.

- Employees should make every effort to schedule medical appointments to limit work disruption.
- An eligible employee may use sick leave in the event of a short-term, less serious or common illness. Examples of events include seasonal colds and other minor ailments where an employee does not need care beyond a single

office visit and/or treatment such as a prescription. This type of event would typically only prohibit an employee from working one or two days and are likely not FMLA events. Employees with a condition that is contagious should stay home.

- Sick leave may also be used for employee illnesses or injuries that are more serious, longer-term. These events may involve hospital stays, multiple treatments, etc. and often exceed three days. In this way, the University's sick leave policy acts as short-term disability coverage. The type of illness or injury may qualify for FMLA leave. Should an employee exhaust his/her sick leave he/she must use vacation time to cover the absence.
- To respect each employee's own commitment to family responsibilities, a
 maximum of three (3) accrued sick days per calendar year may be used for
 the care of an immediate family member who is ill. Immediate family member
 is defined as child, spouse, domestic partner, or parent. Time used for this
 purpose is deducted from the employee's sick leave bank. Care for family
 may qualify as FMLA leave.

Employees may never use more sick leave than they have earned. Questions regarding events eligible for sick time may be directed to the assistant vice president, human resources.

5.5.5 Tracking Sick Leave

Official records are maintained by payroll and may also be maintained by each division/department/office. The amount of sick leave remaining, equals days accrued minus sick days taken.

For staff non-exempt employees, sick time taken shall be entered in the timekeeping system and will be recorded in the minimum amount tracked by payroll. Supervisors are encouraged to work with employees who schedule medical appointments toward the beginning or end of their shift. If an employee misses only an hour or two due to an appointment they may, with supervisor's permission, make that time up during their regular workweek. In no circumstances will this cause unapproved overtime. Sick time plus an employee's hours worked during the week cannot exceed their regularly scheduled number of hours.

Exempt employees shall complete submit absences using the proper system, only for full or half day absences, as soon as possible but no later than the third day after their return to work.

If an employee is not available to complete the time record, the supervisor will submit the sick time for the employee (See policy on time cards/records).

5.5.6 Medical Certification

A physician's statement verifying the illness or injury may be required after three consecutive day's absence and/or for any absence occurrences in excess of five per year. It may also be required at the discretion of the department chair or supervisor. Some events covered under this policy also qualify for FMLA leave and are subject to the policy on medication certification for FMLA.

5.5.7 Integration with Worker's Compensation

The sick leave benefit may be authorized to pay a portion of time off due to illness or injury that is or will be covered by the University's Worker's Compensation benefit provided the injured party was not under the influence of alcohol or drugs at the time of injury and/or did not violate safety policy or procedures.

5.6 Other Leave Policies

5.6.1 Bereavement and Funeral Leave

In the event of death of a spouse, domestic partner, child, parent or sibling, three working days up to and including the day of the funeral may be allowed. The day of the funeral may be granted in the case of the death of other close relatives. Funeral leave does not extend beyond the date of the funeral except when used to attend a memorial service.

For more detail, review the Bereavement and Funeral Leave Policy in the Policy Library.

5.6.2 Jury Duty

Employees called for jury duty are to notify the department/division or office supervisor. Employees who serve on juries will receive their regular salary for days spent as a juror if they endorse the jury-service voucher to the University.

5.6.3 Court Appearances

If court appearances are required for personal reasons or for a violation of the law, absence from the University will be deducted for such days missed as accrued vacation or unpaid leave of absence. In a case where an employee is subpoenaed to appear as a witness in a case involving the University, the absence will not be counted against vacation time nor will salary be reduced.

5.6.4 Paid Caregiver/Parental Leave Policy

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis (UHSP) recognizes that employees must balance work obligations with providing care for their families. The intent of this Paid Caregiver/Parental Leave policy provides eligible faculty and staff members with paid leave to support them while meeting family obligations outside the workplace. The leave benefit that will provide up to four weeks of paid leave to employees on FMLA leave for the following FMLA reasons:

- Bond with the newborn child within one year of birth
- The placement with the employee of a child for adoption or foster care and to bond with the newly placed child within one year of placement
- Care of spouse/child/parent with a serious health condition
- Care for spouse/child/parent who is a member of the armed services undergoing treatment, recuperation or therapy or a qualifying exigency arising out of the fact that the employee's spouse, son, daughter, or parent is a military member on covered active duty

Applies to regular, full-time, benefits eligible faculty and staff who qualify for FMLA. Spouses and/or domestic partners who are both eligible employees may each take leave under this policy for the same qualifying event; managerial approval is required for both employees to be on leave at the same time.

For more detail, please see the Paid Caregiver Parental Leave Policy in the Policy Library.

5.6.5 Military Leave

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis provides a leave of absence for its employees to serve in the Armed Forces in accordance with the Uniformed Services Employment and Re-employment Rights Act (USERRA), and applicable state law. University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis will not deny initial employment, reemployment, retention in employment, promotion, or any benefit of employment to an individual on the basis of his or her membership, application for membership, performance of service, application for service, or obligation for service in the uniformed services.

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis will offer re-employment opportunities to employees who voluntarily or involuntarily leave employment positions to undertake military service. The employee will be provided the opportunity to be re-employed in the same position previously held or, in some instances, a similar position, and will re-instate the employee's benefits following qualified military leave if the following conditions are met:

- The employee provides acceptable written or verbal notice of pending military service to the employee's supervisor or the Human Resources, unless military necessity prevents the giving of notice or notice is otherwise impossible or unreasonable.
- The employee returns to work or applies for reemployment in a timely manner after conclusion of service and provides adequate documentation showing eligibility to return to work:
 - For Military Service of 30 days or fewer the employee must report back to work within 48 hours after the employee returns home from the place of

- military service. If, due to no fault of the employee, timely reporting back to work would be impossible or unreasonable, the employee must report back to work as soon as possible.
- For Military service of more than 30 up to 180 days the employee must contact Human Resources within 14 days after military service is completed. If the former position is no longer available, the University will provide assistance with re-employment opportunities.
- For Military service of more than 180 days the employee must contact Human Resources for assistance with re-employment opportunities no later than 90 days after Military Service is completed.
- Failure to follow these guidelines for reporting to duty in a timely manner following military service may result in loss of eligibility for re-hire.
- The employee may perform military service for a cumulative period of up to five
 (5) years and retain reemployment rights with the employer. The five-year period includes only the time the employee spends actually performing military service.
- The employee's separation from military service was under honorable conditions.
- The University may not be able to reemploy a person if its circumstances have changed so as to make such reemployment impossible or unreasonable.
- The reporting or application deadlines will be extended up to two years for employees who are hospitalized or recovering from a service-connected illness or injury. This period can be extended to accommodate circumstances beyond an employee's control. The University will make reasonable efforts to accommodate an employee's disability so that the employee can be reemployed consistent with the requirements under the USERRA unless such accommodation will cause undue hardship.

5.6.5.1 <u>Benefits Coordination</u>

Employees may request to use accrued vacation during military leave, but are not required to do so.

Employees who qualify under this policy will accumulate seniority for the period of their military service and will retain previously accumulated benefits, subject to rules and regulations that might be imposed in those plans underwritten by insurance companies.

For the first 31 days of leave, the employee must pay the employee contribution cost of health care insurance premiums; employees performing military service of 31 days or more must pay the employee and employer contribution costs of health care insurance premiums (up to 102% of costs); and coverage under the University program will be available for up to 24 months from the date military leave began, or the day after the date on which the employee fails to apply for or return to a position of employment.

If the employee resumes employment with the University following military leave, the employee will be eligible for any general increases in pay, or any approved benefits that occur during their absence.

An employee who is performing military service may elect to make employee contributions or elective deferrals to the University's retirement plan, to the extent allowed by law, while on leave or upon reemployment. The employee is entitled to the same benefits as other employees while on leave, including any retirement match. A reemployed employee can make additional contributions to make up contributions missed during leave.

5.6.6 Leave without pay

An employee may apply for and be granted leave without pay for a prolonged period but may not exceed six months in any rolling backward 12-month period. Any unpaid leave taken as Family and Medical Leave shall be subtracted from the six months of leave without pay allowable in the period. Leave without pay is intended to be taken in full-day increments. Job availability upon return is dependent upon the position involved and the leave arrangements (subject to the requirements of the Family and Medical Leave Act). Leave without pay may be granted under the following conditions:

- When such leave is for prolonged illness or injury extending beyond accumulated vacation or sick leave. Family and Medical Leave will count toward the six-month leave without pay.
- When an employee will attend a college, university, or other school for the purpose of training in subjects relating to a job where there will be benefits to both the employee and the University.
- Because of seasonal fluctuations in the work schedules at the University.
- Under special circumstances, an employee may be granted leave without pay for a specific purpose other than those listed above with approval.

Leave without pay is not granted when the employee has paid vacation, sick leave, or other time off available to be used, except under those circumstances listed above.

Employees on leave without pay will not accrue sick time or vacation, will not be eligible for insurance coverage or University benefits, nor will they be paid for a holiday that occurs during the period that they are on leave without pay.

All leave without pay requires approval from the appropriate dean for faculty and the appropriate President's Staff person and Human Resources for staff.

5.6.7 Summer absences for academic year faculty and staff

Academic year employees will have their insurance coverage (employee medical and dental, vision, life/AD&D, long-term care and long-term disability coverage), continued during the summer months at regular contribution levels when they are otherwise not at work but are committed to return to work the next academic year (for example, faculty have a contract for the next academic year).

5.6.8 Voting leave

If an employee is eligible to vote in any local, state, or national election in the State of Missouri, the employee will normally be able to vote before or after work. If an employee does not have three successive hours when he/she is not scheduled to work between the opening and closing of the polls on Election Day, the employee will be excused from work with pay for up to three consecutive hours between the time of opening and the time of closing the polls for the purpose of voting. If the employee plans to take time off for voting, arrangements must be made with the supervisor prior to election day, and the University may specify any three hours between the time of opening and closing of the polls (such as the beginning or end of the workday) during which the employee may be absent to vote.

5.7 Vacation

- Full-time benefits eligible employees accrue vacation time while working at a rate determined by their status (faculty or staff).
- Vacation accruals may be banked but do have a carryover limit allowing a limited amount of time to carry over each fiscal year. Accrued time beyond the carryover maximum is lost.
- Accrued vacation time (to a limit) is paid out upon separation provided the employee provided sufficient notice.
- Vacation time does not accrue while an employee is on a leave of absence (except in circumstances of intermittent FMLA). Employees may not have a negative vacation balance.
- Vacation requests should be made on the appropriate form/system and must be
 approved by the employee's supervisor prior to being taken. Vacation time must be
 taken at times that do <u>not</u> conflict with critical work projects, peak times, class or
 clerkship activities and must be approved in advance by the division director or
 department chair.
- Should a holiday occur during a vacation period, it will be counted as a holiday, not a vacation day.
- Employees who leave at the end of the calendar year will be deemed terminated as of December 23th (or last day the University is open for the year), and no pay will be due for the holiday break to the separating employee.
- Employees may not use vacation time in lieu of proper notice of their intent to separate employment and may not use vacation beyond their last actual day of work.
- Vacation may be taken half-day increments.

5.7.1 Vacation Accrual – Faculty

Twelve month/calendar year faculty members who are designated as having full-time benefits eligible status are eligible for vacation time. Faculty on an academic year appointment do not accrue vacation.

One month (22 working days) of vacation is available per year for twelve month, full-time faculty regularly working 37.5 hours a week (1.0 full-time equivalent (FTE)). Benefits eligible calendar-year faculty working less than 1.0 FTE will receive a prorated amount based on their percentage full-time equivalent.

Faculty may accumulate carry over no more than 44 days of vacation at the start of the fiscal year (July 1). For benefits eligible faculty working less than 1.0 FTE the accumulation maximum is also prorated.

Terminating calendar-year faculty members who have been continuously employed for more than one year shall be entitled to a vacation payout of no more than 22 days, provided they resign with proper notice and the resignation is effective at the end of the appointment year. Faculty who had accrued 44 days of vacation as of June 30, 2005 are grandfathered under the old maximum payout.

Faculty who resign at other times are subject to forfeiture of vacation as stated in the Faculty Bylaws and Policies.

6 Employee Benefits

The following pages describe the various employee benefits available to eligible employees of University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis. These **summaries** are subject to the terms of the documents and contracts governing these benefits, they are subject to change. Therefore, the University reserves the right to effect such changes, at which time suitable announcements will be made. The best source of accurate information regarding current benefits is the Office of Human Resources. **All employee benefits apply to eligible staff and faculty.**

6.1 Employee Benefit Booklets

Information published in the benefit plan booklets and other plan documents supersedes the information in this handbook. Booklets describing benefits on all employee benefit programs in further detail may be obtained from human resources.

6.2 Group Health, Dental and Vision Insurance Plans

All active, non-temporary, full-time employees working at least 30 hours a week are eligible to participate in the University's health, dental and vision insurance programs on the first of the month following the hire date or immediately if hired on the first of the month. The University contribution and monthly employee premium for employees will vary from year to year and will be published at enrollment and annually at open enrollment.

6.3 Eligibility and Late Enrollment

Application to health and dental plans should be made on eligibility date or within 31 days of a "qualifying event" under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA).

Common examples of "Qualifying events" under HIPAA include:

 Loss of coverage due to lay-off, termination or reduction of hours of spouse/eligible domestic partner under the plan

- Divorce or legal separation
- Change in family status (birth, adoption)

A "Special Enrollee" requesting enrollment due to a qualifying event must have initially declined coverage because he/she had other coverage.

6.4 COBRA continuation coverage

Under the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (COBRA) the University offers continuation of group health and dental insurance coverage to certain employees and their dependents who upon occurrence of a "qualifying event" lose coverage.

"Qualifying events" under COBRA include:

- Termination of employment (other than for gross misconduct)
- Reduction of hours of employment
- Death of the employee
- Divorce or legal separation
- A dependent child reaching the maximum age for coverage
- Entitlement to Medicare by reason of retirement or disability

Detailed information is available in the Office of Human Resources.

6.5 <u>Group Life Insurance Plan, Accidental Death and Dismemberment and</u> Supplemental Life

All active, non-temporary, full-time employees working more than 30 hours a week are eligible to participate in the Group Life Insurance Plan on the first of the month following the hire date or immediately if hired on the first of the month.

Basic Life Insurance/Accidental Death and Dismemberment coverage on each participant is provided in an amount equal to one times annual base salary (to the nearest \$1,000) at no cost. The benefit is reduced over age 65.

In addition, there is voluntary Supplemental Life Insurance coverage available in increments of one to five times annual salary. The cost of this insurance is based on age. Supplemental Accidental Death and Dismemberment (individual and family coverage) can be purchased so that any supplemental life benefit may be doubled in the event that the participant dies in an accident and provides coverage for loss of a limb.

Application forms for enrollment are available from the Office of Human Resources. If an employee fails to enroll at the time he or she first becomes eligible to participate, the employee may be required to furnish evidence of insurability satisfactory to the insurance company in order to enroll at a later date.

6.6 Flexible Benefits Plan

The University has established a Cafeteria Plan/Flexible Spending Plan which will allow participants to pay certain expenses before federal, state, and social security taxes are deducted. New employees may elect to participate on the first of the month following hire date. Elections are made based on the plan year so an employee hired during the plan year must make elections according to the number of pay periods remaining in the plan year.

Using pre-tax dollars for these expenses vs. post-tax dollars may mean more take home pay for each participant. Section 125 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, allows this procedure, which is often referred to as a Flex-Plan. The University's plan allows the following expenses to be paid out of pre-tax dollars:

- 1. Group Medical, Dental, and Vision Insurance Premiums
- 2. Non-reimbursed medical expenses
- Dependent care expenses

This is a voluntary plan established to provide tax savings. In order to take advantage of the University's cafeteria plan, an annual commitment is required by each participant. All contributions must be used by the participant during the plan year or they will be forfeited. Participants have 90 days after the plan year-end to submit reimbursable expenses to the plan administrator. A limited amount of funds may be rolled over from plan year to plan year. Please refer to the plan document for more specific information including plan year. Elections to participate may NOT be changed until the open enrollment period, unless a change in family status occurs. A "change in family status" is defined as marriage, divorce, death of spouse or child, birth or adoption of child.

Contact the assistant vice president, human resources for additional information concerning enrollment and participation.

6.7 Long Term Disability Benefits Insurance Plan

All active, non-temporary, full-time employees working at least 30 hours a week (except temporary employees) are eligible to participate in the Group Long-Term Disability Benefits Insurance Plan as of the first day of the month following completion of three months of service. This benefit is provided to all faculty and staff at no cost. LTD provides 60% of pay for disabilities which require absence from work of 90 days or longer. The benefit is reduced over age 65.

6.8 Travel Accident and Medical Insurance

A group travel accident policy paid for by the University covers all full-time, non-temporary, employees working at least 30 hours a week who are on the regular payroll while traveling off University property on the business of the University. A maximum benefit of \$300,000 is provided for loss of life. These benefits are in addition to any benefits provided under the University's Group Life Insurance. Employees are also

eligible for a \$500,000 travel medical policy to pay for medical care when traveling internationally.

6.9 Worker's Compensation

All employees of the University (paid faculty, staff, and student workers) are covered by Worker's Compensation. Worker's Compensation provides medical coverage for work-related injuries and illnesses and in some instances lost time. Benefits may be reduced if an employee is injured while under the influence of alcohol or drugs. Medical care is coordinated to get an injured employee healed to allow them to return to work. Employees have a right to report a work-related injury or illness; UHSP can't discriminate or retaliate against a person for reporting an injury or illness. All accidental injuries or illnesses that arise in the course of employment must be reported immediately to your supervisor and a report filed. The Office of Human Resources will coordinate and select medical treatment for injured employees.

6.10 Retirement Plan

The University Board of Trustees established the Defined Contribution Retirement Plan for employees of the University to provide a measure of income security for employees after retirement. Employees may make pre-tax retirement contributions and reduce taxes.

Contributions are invested in a variety of mutual funds or annuities offering diverse investment options in equities and non-equities across a spectrum of categories. Earnings are reinvested and credited to the employee's account. Management and administrative fees are taken automatically from the employee's account.

All eligible employees can participate in the Defined Contribution Retirement Plan on the first day of the month following employment. The University match will occur upon completion of one year of service at the University as defined in the plan document. Employees who are hired directly from another school of higher education are eligible for the match the first day of the month following the date of employment.

Vesting under the plan is immediate. Employee salary deferral money may be done after age 59 ½, termination, retirement or disability. Employees are allowed to take a loan or hardship withdrawal from salary deferrals. Employer match money may only be withdrawn after retirement, termination or disability. For more specific details, please refer to the Summary Plan Description (SPD) and enrollment materials available from Human Resources. The IRS discrimination requirements may require a periodic adjustment in the above contribution levels.

6.11 University Tuition Reimbursement

The following policy regarding the reimbursement of educational tuition expenses (excludes books and fees) for University personnel (faculty and staff) has been established by the University.

The University will reimburse full-time, benefits eligible personnel, employed at least 6 months, for educational expenses providing the following criteria are met:

- 1. Must be credit courses at an accredited college/university.
- 2. Courses taken must be job related and approved by the immediate supervisor, the division director or department chair/supervisor and the assistant vice president, human resources prior to enrollment.
- 3. Enrollment and course load must not conflict with an employee's ability to complete their work. Any schedule adjustments must be approved by the appropriate supervisor and President's Staff person.
- 4. Reimbursement is limited to six (6) credit hours per semester/trimester/session at a tuition rate up to and no greater than that of University of Missouri St. Louis. The University will reimburse a total of 12 credit hours per fiscal year. Should calendar year reimbursement amounts exceed taxable limits the reimbursement will be recorded as taxable income. Employees are welcome to take more than 12 credit hours in a calendar or fiscal year, provided there is no enrollment or course load conflict and it is approved, but there will be no reimbursement beyond the 12-credit-hour limit.
- 5. Reimbursement may be requested after <u>satisfactory</u> completion of the course with at least a "C". Grades and a tuition receipt must be submitted along with the request for reimbursement. The University will reimburse the employee for research credit hours taken to complete a doctoral dissertation, up to the minimum number of hours required for that research by the doctoral-granting institution.

Personnel are also eligible to enroll at no tuition cost in courses taught at the University on a space available basis and with the instructor's approval. The limit of six (6) credit hours per semester and prior approval of the division director or department chair/supervisor also applies.

Employees receiving tuition reimbursement are expected to continue employment with the University for at least one year. Should an employee leave before completing a year of service following reimbursement, tuition received for the previous semester must be repaid to the University. The University may withhold any money due from final pay.

6.12 Tuition for Dependents at UHSP

The University has adopted a policy of full tuition remission benefit for dependent children of University staff and faculty. To be eligible the faculty or staff member must have at least five years of continuous full-time service. Similar privileges may be

extended in the event of death or permanent disability of an eligible full-time faculty or staff member prior to the time their children are of college age.

The University will allow for up to three undergraduate academic years to be covered at full tuition per eligible child. Up to four academic years of graduate school may be covered at full cost as well, but this benefit is taxable. Tuition remission does not include room and board, book costs or any fees.

In order to be eligible, the following conditions apply. The child:

- Must meet the following definition of dependent:
 - 1. He/she is your biological child, adopted child or stepchild
 - 2. Lives with you for more than one-half of the year
 - 3. Has not attained age 19 as of the close of the year or has not attained age 24 as of the close of the year if the child was a full-time student for at least five months of the year (Note: These age limits do not apply in the case of a child who is permanently and totally disabled)
 - 4. Does not provide over one-half of his or her own support for the year
- Must matriculate at the University prior to reaching his/her 23rd birthday
- Must meet the admission requirements of the University
- Must be claimed on the employee's current Federal Income Tax Return
- Must be seeking his/her first degree
- Must complete the course of study in the prescribed length of time

Dependent children receiving tuition remission may be eligible for institutional meritbased scholarships. Remission of tuition benefits and institutional scholarships are not available retroactively or for summer classes. This program is offered subject to space being available in each class.

This policy is not intended to imply or state the taxable status of benefits covered by the Policy. Benefits under this policy are taxable to the employee only to the extent directed by the Internal Revenue Code which may be amended from time to time.

6.13 Tuition Exchange Programs (CIC-TEP)

University of Health Sciences and Pharmacy in St. Louis participates in the Council of Independent Colleges Tuition Exchange Program ("CIC-TEP") tuition exchange program. Eligible dependents may apply for full-tuition remission at any number of eligible institutions; currently over 400 participate.

To be eligible to participate in the CIC-TEP you generally must be a full-time faculty or staff employee and a parent to a qualified dependent child. The employee must also meet three years of service eligibility.

CIC-TEP tuition remission awards are limited to a maximum of eight semesters of continuous undergraduate enrollment (or 4 semesters of graduate enrollment for some

CIC schools) or until completion of the degree, whichever comes first. The importing institution selects the awardees.

CIC-TEP tuition remission may be awarded for full and part-time undergraduate and graduate programs. CIC host institutions determine whether part-time, graduate, and study abroad students are eligible. Human Resources serves as CIC-TEP liaison and maintains a full policy outlining details of the eligibility requirements and admissions process.

The CIC-TEP tuition remission covers full tuition. CIC-TEP award recipients are responsible for all other expenses such as room and board, books, fees, etc.

Eligible employees may submit the CIC-TEP application and supporting application form to HR by November 20 the year preceding the desired academic award date. The employee's dependents still must go through each institution's individual admissions process.

Awards may be renewable, but new forms must be completed each year.

This policy is not intended to imply or state the taxable status of benefits covered by the Policy. Benefits under this policy are taxable to the employee only to the extent directed by the Internal Revenue Code which may be amended from time to time.

For more details, review the Tuition Exchange Policy (CIC-TEP and The Tuition Exchange) in the policy library.

6.14 Employee Assistance Plan

UHSP offers a prepaid Employee Assistance Plan (EAP) that is available to all full-time, benefits eligible faculty, staff and their dependents at no charge. The EAP offers short-term counseling and assistance for a variety of problems. In instances where long-term counseling is needed, the EAP will work with the employee to identify sources covered under the medical plan, when applicable. At times, supervisors may refer employees who seem to be experiencing some performance issues to the EAP in an effort to help. For more information, contact H&H Health Associates at 314-845-8302 or Human Resources.